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Reporting Standards (IFRS) applicable to real estate developers in Brazil

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INDIVIDUAL AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

The Shareholders, Board of Directors and Officers 
MRV Engenharia e Participações S.A 
Belo Horizonte - MG 

Opinion on separate and consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) applicable to real estate developers in 
Brazil, as approved by the Brazilian Financial Accounting Standards Board (CPC), the 
Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission (CVM), and Brazil’s National Association of 
State Boards of Accountancy (CFC) 

We have audited the accompanying separate and consolidated financial statements of MRV 
Engenharia e Participações S.A. (“Company”), identified as Company and Consolidated, respectively, 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and the statements of 
income, of comprehensive income, of changes in equity and of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting practices. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
separate and consolidated financial position of MRV Engenharia e Participações S.A. as at December 
31, 2016, and its separate and consolidated financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil and with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) applicable to real estate developers in Brazil, as approved by the 
Brazilian Financial Accounting Standards Board (CPC), the Brazilian Securities and Exchange 
Commission (CVM), and Brazil’s National Association of State Boards of Accountancy (CFC). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Brazilian and international standards on auditing. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements" section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance with the ethical requirements 
provided for in the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and in the professional standards 
issued by Brazil's National Association of State Boards of Accountancy, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to support our opinion. 
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Emphasis of a matter 

OCPC Guideline 04 

As described in Note 2.1, the separate and consolidated financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil. The separate and consolidated financial 
statements prepared under IFRS applicable to real estate developers also include OCPC Guideline 
04 issued by the Brazilian Financial Accounting Standards Board. That guideline covers revenue 
recognition in that sector and involves matters related to the meaning and application of the concept 
of continuous transfer of risks, rewards and control on sales of real estate units, as further described 
in Note 2.1. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Accounting for real estate development revenue, costs and expenses 

As mentioned in Note 2.2 (a), the Company accounts for real estate development revenue, costs and 
expenses during construction, based on the OCPC-04 guideline Application of Technical Interpretation 
ICPC 02 (Construction Contracts) to Brazilian Real Estate Developers, issued by the Brazilian 
Financial Accounting Standards Board. Consequently, the calculation and allocation of profit or loss, 
as well as recording under real estate development revenue, properties for sale, real estate 
development customers and advances received from customers follow the referred to pronouncement 
approved by CVM Rule No. 653/10. Sales revenues are allocated to profit or loss based on the 
construction work progress, since the transfer of risks and rewards is continuous. Accordingly, the 
percentage of completion (POC) method is adopted. This method uses the ratio of costs incurred to 
total estimated costs of the respective ventures, and revenue is calculated by multiplying this 
percentage by contracted sales. Land and construction costs inherent in the development of units sold 
are allocated to profit or loss as incurred. 

This matter was deemed material to our audit since the revenue recognition process involves 
judgment by management in determining the budget and in its timely review, and it is highly complex 
and critical. Additionally, net operating revenue balances recognized for 2016 totaled R$2,349,112 
thousand for separate and R$4,249,049 thousand for consolidated; therefore, they are significant to 
the financial statements. 

Our audit procedures included, among others: (a) use of specialists to validate construction work 
budgets and analyze their progress; (b) internal control tests referring to the budgetary process 
adopted by the Company, including a retrospective review of previous budgets prepared by 
management, in order to identify any potential inconsistency in the preparation of budgets; (c) 
assessing whether the information used in the calculations presented by the Company is accurate 
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and complete; (d) document testing on the basis for sales and costs incurred; and (e) review of the 
appropriateness of the disclosures in Note 2.2 (a) to the financial statements. 

Provision for maintenance of properties (guarantees) 

In accordance with Technical Pronouncement CPC 25 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets, a provision shall be recognized when: (a) an entity has a present obligation (legal 
or constructive) as a result of a past event; (b) an outflow of economic resources will probably be 
required to settle the obligation; and (c) the obligation amount can be estimated reliably. 

As mentioned in Note 2.2 (n), the provisions for expenses expected for maintenance of properties are 
recognized in the income statement by using the same revenue allocation criterion for real estate 
development, i.e. from the date the respective units were sold and based on management’s best 
estimate for the expenditures required to settle the Company’s obligation.  

This matter was deemed material for our audit considering that the assessment process involves 
critical judgment and assumptions used by management. The Company offers a five-year limited 
guarantee against any construction problems in its ventures, in compliance with the Brazilian 
legislation. This provision is calculated based on historical percentages of expenditures and estimates 
of the Company’s engineering department. Additionally, the balances for this account at December 
31, 2016 total R$70,990 thousand for separate and R$140,078 thousand for consolidated and, 
therefore, are significant to the financial statements. 

Our audit procedures included, among others: (a) validation of historical amounts incurred with 
guarantees and of the percentage of such costs in relation to sales, (b) an independent calculation 
based on the assumptions adopted by the Company, (c) a retrospective review of prior projections in 
order to identify any potential inconsistency in future estimates; and (d) review of the appropriateness 
of disclosures included in Note 16 to the financial statements. 

Other matters 

Statements of value added 

The separate and consolidated statements of value added (SVA) for the year ended December 31, 
2016, prepared under the responsibility of Company’s management, and presented as supplementary 
information for IFRS purposes, were submitted to audit procedures performed in conjunction with the 
audit of the Company's financial statements. For the purpose of forming our opinion, we evaluate 
whether these statements are reconciled with the financial statements and accounting records, as 
applicable, and whether their form and content are in accordance with the criteria set forth in 
Accounting Pronouncement CPC 09 - Statement of Value Added. In our opinion, these statements of 
value added have been properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the criteria set 
forth in this Accounting Pronouncement and are consistent with the overall separate and consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Other information accompanying the separate and consolidated financial statements and the 
auditor's report 

The Company management is responsible for such other information, including the Management 
Report.  

Our opinion on the separate and consolidated financial statements does not cover the Management 
Report and we do not express any form of audit conclusion on this report. 

In connection with the audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the Management Report and, in doing so, consider whether the report is significantly 
inconsistent with the financial statements or with our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
seems to contain material misstatements. If, based on our work, we conclude that there are material 
misstatements in the Management Report, we are required to communicate this matter. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the separate and 
consolidated financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate and consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with the accounting practices adopted in Brazil and in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) applicable to real estate developers in 
Brazil, as approved by the Brazilian Financial Accounting Standards Board (CPC), the Brazilian 
Securities and Exchange Commission (CVM) and Brazil’s National Association of State Boards of 
Accountancy (CFC), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the separate and consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Company and its subsidiaries or to cease operations, or has no other realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ 
financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the separate and consolidated audit of financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the overall separate and 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Brazilian and 
International standards on auditing will always detect material misstatements when they exist. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, separately or in the 
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aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of the audit conducted in accordance with Brazilian and International standards on auditing, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate and consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than one resulting from error, as fraud may involve override of internal
controls, collusion, forgery, intentional omissions or misrepresentations.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control of Company and its subsidiaries.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s and its
subsidiaries’ ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
separate and consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company and its
subsidiaries to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the separate and consolidated financial statements represent the
corresponding transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal controls that we identify during our audit. 
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We also provided those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and communicated with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we are required to determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

Belo Horizonte, March 07, 2017 

ERNST & YOUNG  
Auditores Independentes S.S. 
CRC-2SP015199/F-6 

Flávio de Aquino Machado 
Accountant CRC-1MG065899/O-2 
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MRV ENGENHARIA E PARTICIPAÇÕES S.A.

BALANCE SHEETS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$)

Notes 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Assets

 Ativo circulante 

 Cash and cash equivalents 4 1,245,914        1,256,075        1,763,552        1,595,814        

 Investments securities 5 255,290           128,410           257,519           128,410           

 Receivables from real estate development 6 990,918           1,209,389        1,658,435        2,069,233        

 Receivables from services provided 6 1,249               1,635               3,590               5,970               

 Real estate for sale  7 1,978,060        1,726,997        3,076,734        2,726,289        

 Recoverable taxes 15 200,707           145,504           229,364           196,353           

 Prepaid expenses 32,668             27,327             57,205             44,002             

 Other assets 72,361             42,413             73,685             53,541             

 Total Current assets 4,777,167        4,537,750        7,120,084        6,819,612        

 Noncurrent assets 

 Receivables from real estate development 6 586,707           743,455           991,402           1,203,864        

 Real estate for sale  7 2,230,378        1,610,271        3,058,927        2,256,237        

 Intercompany receivables 18 (c) 34,532             71,442             36,643             88,387             

 Prepaid expenses 21,157             16,898             36,050             32,415             

 Derivative 25 1,168               -                  1,583               -                  

 Other noncurrent assets 58,682             46,134             72,673             62,228             

 Investments in subsidiaries and jointly ventures 8 2,408,572        2,421,408        783,477           739,840           

 Property and equipment 9 117,958           88,818             139,986           105,311           

 Intangible assets 10 85,953             84,217             86,188             84,415             

 Total Noncurrent assets 5,545,107        5,082,643        5,206,929        4,572,697        

 Total assets 10,322,274      9,620,393        12,327,013      11,392,309      

Liabilities and Shareholder's Equity

 Current Liabilities 

 Suppliers 225,366           194,063           315,109           254,335           

 Due to other related parties 8 34,882             40,022             34,882             40,022             

 Loans, financing and debentures  11 872,900           1,091,266        937,050           1,118,678        

 Land payables  12 425,526           277,001           514,578           347,830           

 Advances from customers  13 430,668           499,273           674,864           851,717           

 Labor and social liabilities 14 73,069             63,520             110,068           109,618           

 Tax liabilities 15 32,075             33,469             57,318             55,844             

 Accrual for maintenance of real estate 16 21,749             20,954             40,331             37,167             

 Deferred tax liabilities  26 33,033             37,776             58,514             67,176             

 Proposed dividends 19 132,315           130,051           132,315           130,051           

 Other payables  39,218             81,150             49,330             38,036             

 Total Current Liabilities 2,320,801        2,468,545        2,924,359        3,050,474        

 Noncurrent liabilities 

 Due to other related parties 8 -                  32,416             -                  32,416             

 Loans, financing and debentures  11 962,881           930,640           1,376,590        1,130,973        

 Land payables  12 1,225,892        739,625           1,695,035        1,166,137        

 Advances from customers  13 475,676           523,247           628,762           716,813           

 Accrual for maintenance of real estate 16 49,241             53,331             99,747             98,704             

 Provision for civil, labor and tax risks  17 69,881             70,467             97,652             91,604             

 Deferred tax liabilities  26 23,150             26,426             40,126             42,123             

 Other payables  11,023             82                    27,255             13,192             

 Total Noncurrent liabilities 2,817,744        2,376,234        3,965,167        3,291,962        

 Total Liabilities 5,138,545        4,844,779        6,889,526        6,342,436        

 Shareholder's Equity 

 Share capital  19 4,509,521        4,059,521        4,509,521        4,059,521        

 Capital reserves 28,977             23,550             28,977             23,550             

 Earnings reserve 495,231           666,533           495,231           666,533           

 Proposed additional dividends 150,000           26,010             150,000           26,010             

 Equity attributable to Company shareholders  5,183,729        4,775,614        5,183,729        4,775,614        

 Noncontrolling interests   19 -                  -                  253,758           274,259           

 Total Shareholder's Equity 5,183,729        4,775,614        5,437,487        5,049,873        

 Total Liabilities and Shareholder's Equity 10,322,274      9,620,393        12,327,013      11,392,309      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Individual Consolidated
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MRV ENGENHARIA E PARTICIPAÇÕES S.A.

INCOME STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$, except earnings per share)

Individual Consolidated

Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015

Net operating revenue 22 2,349,112        2,741,569        4,249,049        4,763,038        

Cost of real estate sales and services 23 (1,599,478)       (1,897,690)       (2,862,270)       (3,324,401)       

Gross profit 749,634           843,879           1,386,779        1,438,637        

Operating income (expenses):

Selling expenses 23 (316,534)          (295,686)          (498,741)          (457,636)          

General and administrative expenses 23 (265,004)          (261,342)          (287,490)          (279,578)          

Other operating expenses, net 23 (56,977)            (70,883)            (88,432)            (107,256)          

Results from equity participation 8 324,914           248,466           (57,288)            (95,832)            

Operating profit before financial income (expenses) 436,033           464,434           454,828           498,335           

Financial income (expenses):

Financial expenses 24 (55,909)            (72,323)            (62,634)            (77,685)            

Financial income 24 188,537           153,100           228,034           196,111           

Financial income from receivables from real estate development 24 33,621             54,908             48,248             81,835             

Income before income tax and social contribution 602,282           600,119           668,476           698,596           

Income tax and social contribution:

Current 26 (51,809)            (57,577)            (100,495)          (117,427)          

Deferred 26 6,641               5,039               6,423               14,185             

26 (45,168)            (52,538)            (94,072)            (103,242)          

Net income for the year 557,114           547,581           574,404           595,354           

Net income attributable to:

Company owners 557,114           547,581           

Noncontrolling interests 17,290             47,773             

574,404           595,354           

Earnings per share (In Reais - R$):
Basic 20 1.26274            1.23987            1.26274            1.23987            

Diluted 20 1.25748            1.23807            1.25748            1.23807            

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MRV ENGENHARIA E PARTICIPAÇÕES S.A.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$)

Individual Consolidated

2016 2015 2016 2015

Net income 557,114           547,581           574,404           595,354           

Other components of comprehensive income -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total comprehensive income for the year 557,114           547,581           574,404           595,354           

Comprehensive income attributable to:

Company owners 557,114           547,581           557,114           547,581           

Noncontrolling interests -                      -                      17,290             47,773             

557,114           547,581           574,404           595,354           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MRV ENGENHARIA E PARTICIPAÇÕES S.A.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$)

Capital reserves

 Share capital 

Share issuance 

costs

Recognized stock 

options granted Legal

Earnings 

reserves

Treasury 

shares

Retained 

earnings

Proposed 

additional 

dividends

Noncontrolling 

interests Total

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2014 3,507,206         (26,309)              44,756                    36,011          852,315             (25,971)           -                         -                        4,388,008                284,910                      4,672,918           

Capital increase arising from the capitalization of the earnings reserve 552,315            -                         -                              -                    (552,315)            -                      -                         -                        -                               -                                 -                          

Capital transaction -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         -                      757                    -                        757                          (594)                           163                     

Distribution to noncontrolling interests -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         -                      -                         -                        -                               (57,830)                      (57,830)               

Treasury shares purchased -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         (39,032)           -                         -                        (39,032)                    -                                 (39,032)               

Treasury shares transferred and canceled -                        -                         -                              -                    (40,120)              40,120            -                         -                        -                               -                                 -                          

Treasury shares disposed to beneficiaries of stock option plan -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         3,248              -                         -                        3,248                       -                                 3,248                  

Stock options -                        -                         5,103                      -                    -                         -                      -                         -                        5,103                       -                                 5,103                  

Net income for the year -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         -                      547,581             -                        547,581                   47,773                        595,354              

Allocation of net income:

Recognition of legal reserve -                        -                         -                              27,379          -                         -                      (27,379)              -                        -                               -                                 -                          

Mandatory minimum dividends -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         -                      (130,051)            -                        (130,051)                  -                                 (130,051)             

Proposed additional dividends -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         -                      (26,010)              26,010              -                               -                                 -                          

Earnings retention -                        -                         -                              -                    364,898             -                      (364,898)            -                        -                               -                          

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2015 4,059,521         (26,309)              49,859                    63,390          624,778             (21,635)           -                         26,010              4,775,614                274,259                      5,049,873           

Capitalization of reserves 450,000            -                         -                              -                    (450,000)            -                      -                         -                        -                               -                                 -                          

Capital transaction -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         -                      2,834                 -                        2,834                       (3,380)                        (546)                    

Distribution to noncontrolling interests -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         -                      -                         -                        -                               (34,411)                      (34,411)               

Treasury shares transferred -                        -                         -                              -                    253                    (253)                -                         -                        -                               -                                 -                          
Treasury shares disposed to beneficiaries of stock option plan -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         1,065              -                         -                        1,065                       -                                 1,065                  

Stock options -                        -                         5,427                      -                    -                         -                      -                         -                        5,427                       -                                 5,427                  

Addition dividends paid -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         -                      -                         (26,010)             (26,010)                    -                                 (26,010)               

Extraordinary dividends -                        -                         -                              -                    (150,000)            -                      -                         150,000            -                               -                                 -                          

Net income for the year -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         -                      557,114             -                        557,114                   17,290                        574,404              

Allocation of net income:

Recognition of legal reserve -                        -                         -                              27,856          -                         -                      (27,856)              -                        -                               -                                 -                          

Mandatory minimum dividends -                        -                         -                              -                    -                         -                      (132,315)            -                        (132,315)                  -                                 (132,315)             

Earnings retention -                        -                         -                              -                    399,777             -                      (399,777)            -                        -                               -                                 -                          
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 4,509,521         (26,309)              55,286                    91,246          424,808             (20,823)           -                         150,000            5,183,729                253,758                      5,437,487           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Earnings reserves
Equity attributable 

to Company owners
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MRV ENGENHARIA E PARTICIPAÇÕES S.A.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 - INDIRECT METHOD
(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$)

 

Individual Consolidated

Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015

Cash flows from operating activities  

Net income for the year 557,114         547,581         574,404         595,354            

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash generated by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 35,019           30,275           41,577           37,029              

Recognized stock options granted 23 5,306             4,965             5,306             4,965                

Property and equipment write off 9,740             5,315             11,634           7,983                

Financial result 22,184           27,028           26,429           8,814                

Results from equity participation 8 (324,914)        (248,466)        57,288           95,832              

Provision for maintenance of real estate 27,868           33,173           50,902           59,038              

Provision for civil, labor and tax risks 28,858           57,283           49,439           88,619              

Allowance for doubtful debts 47,874           18,104           71,623           28,659              

Amortization of prepaid expenses 88,248           49,758           156,470         69,341              

Results from derivative financial instruments (1,168)           -                    (1,583)           -                        

Deferred income tax and social contribution 26 (6,641)           (5,039)           (6,423)           (14,185)             

Deferred taxes on revenue (PIS & COFINS) (4,334)           1,884             (4,236)           (3,710)               

485,154         521,861         1,032,830      977,739            

(Increase) decrease in operating assets: 

(Increase) decrease in trade receivables 451,637         378,904         600,875         727,467            

(Increase) decrease in real estate for sale (23,063)          (45,096)          (219,503)        (188,358)           

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (97,849)          (47,352)          (173,308)        (73,178)             

(Increase) decrease in other assets (70,106)          20,527           (62,069)          11,289              

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:

Increase (decrease) in trade payables 25,037           (932)              60,774           12,447              

Increase (decrease) in payroll and related taxes 9,343             1,840             450                (13,236)             

Increase (decrease) in taxes, fees and contributions 21,258           53,084           66,349           98,954              

Increase (decrease) in advances from customers (116,827)        (3,801)           (244,431)        (13,979)             

Increase (decrease) in other payables 6,888             (6,805)           9,617             (3,459)               

Interest paid (268,321)        (266,806)        (299,368)        (292,218)           

Income tax and social contribution paid (25,207)          (45,691)          (66,891)          (96,018)             

Realization of real estate maintenance (47,249)          (39,505)          (72,944)          (65,612)             

Amounts paid for civil, labor and tax risks 17 (42,754)          (42,099)          (56,329)          (53,802)             

 Net cash generated by operating activities 307,941         478,129         576,052         1,028,036         

Cash flows from investing activities 

(Increase) decrease in investment securities (102,348)        43,251           (104,577)        43,434              

Advances to related companies (365,759)        (265,563)        (362,531)        (305,038)           

Receipts from related companies 409,956         255,143         421,566         282,556            

Decrease in (acquisition of/contribution to) investments 242,364         463,746         (100,804)        (10,087)             

Payment for acquisition of subsidiary (44,140)          (38,369)          (44,140)          (38,370)             

Purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets (75,533)          (63,969)          (89,659)          (73,824)             

Net cash generated by (used in) investing activities 64,540           394,239         (280,145)        (101,329)           

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from exercised stock options 19 1,065             3,248             1,065             3,248                

Loans from related parties (48,750)          61,124           (2,605)           3,915                

Treasury shares -                    (39,032)          -                    (39,032)             

Proceeds from loans and financing, net 1,334,475      882,793         1,927,833      1,177,648         

Repayment of borrowings, financing and debentures (1,516,205)     (1,066,751)     (1,863,444)     (1,465,452)        

Capital transaction 2,834             757                (546)              163                   

Dividend paid 19 (156,061)        (171,050)        (156,061)        (171,050)           

Distribution to noncontrolling shareholders 19 -                    -                    (34,411)          (57,830)             

Net cash generated (used in) by financing activities (382,642)        (328,911)        (128,169)        (548,390)           

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents, net (10,161)          543,457         167,738         378,317            

Cash and cash equivalents 

At the beginning of the year 1,256,075      712,618         1,595,814      1,217,497         

At the end of the year 4 1,245,914      1,256,075      1,763,552      1,595,814         
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents, net (10,161)          543,457         167,738         378,317            

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MRV ENGENHARIA E PARTICIPAÇÕES S.A.

STATEMENTS OF VALUE ADDED FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$)

Notes 2016 2015 2016 2015

REVENUES

Gross operating revenue 22 2,403,560      2,820,341      4,345,873      4,888,409      

Other income 29,882            34,125            30,639            32,691            

Revenues related to construction of own assets 12,915            13,499            12,915            13,499            

2,446,357      2,867,965      4,389,427      4,934,599      

INPUTS PURCHASED FROM THIRD-PARTIES (includes the taxes

PIS AND COFINS)
Cost of real estate and services sold: supplies, land, power, outside 
services and other items (1,626,218)     (1,928,047)     (2,674,162)     (3,011,576)     

GROSS VALUE ADDED 820,139         939,918         1,715,265      1,923,023      

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION (35,019)          (30,275)          (41,577)          (37,029)          

NET VALUE ADDED GENERATED BY THE COMPANY 785,120         909,643         1,673,688      1,885,994      

VALUE ADDED RECEIVED IN TRANSFER

Results from equity participation 8 324,914         248,466         (57,288)          (95,832)          

Financial income 231,305         212,114         285,445         282,055         

556,219         460,580         228,157         186,223         
TOTAL VALUE ADDED FOR DISTRIBUTION 1,341,339      1,370,223      1,901,845      2,072,217      

VALUE ADDED DISTRIBUTED 

Personnel: 300,250         316,137         613,486         734,868         

Salaries and wages 226,095         239,952         479,755         580,867         

Benefits 55,736            62,148            99,948            114,701         

Severance Pay Fund (FGTS) 18,419            14,037            33,783            39,300            

Taxes and fees: 240,656         234,562         383,626         396,650         

Federal 192,005         196,539         314,214         336,430         

Municipal 46,637            37,372            66,610            59,084            

State 2,014              651                 2,802              1,136              

Lenders and lessors: 243,319         271,943         330,329         345,345         

Interest 181,293         194,456         233,715         236,443         

Rentals 60,848            76,173            95,507            107,524         

Leases 1,178              1,314              1,107              1,378              

Shareholders: 557,114         547,581         574,404         595,354         

Dividends 132,315         156,061         132,315         156,061         

Earnings retained in the year 424,799         391,520         424,799         391,520         

Noncontrolling interests -                      -                      17,290            47,773            

VALUE ADDED DISTRIBUTED 1,341,339      1,370,223      1,901,845      2,072,217      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Individual Consolidated
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MRV Engenharia e Participações S.A. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. 
(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$, except if otherwise stated) 
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1. General information 
 

MRV Engenharia e Participações S.A. and its subsidiaries, and jointly controlled 
entities ("Company" or "Group") are engaged in the management of own assets, 
development, construction and sale of Company owned or third-party real estate, 
the provision of technical engineering services related to the functions of the 
technicians in charge, and holding equity interests in other companies as a 
shareholder. Real estate development and the construction of real estate are 
performed directly by the Company or other business partners. The direct and 
indirect subsidiaries are summarized in Note 8. Partners have a direct participation 
in the projects, through interest in silent partnerships (“SCP”), a consortium, and 
special purpose entities (“SPE”) to develop the project. The Company is a publicly-
held corporation listed in the São Paulo Stock Exchange (BOVESPA), under the 
symbol MRVE3, with registered head office at Avenida Professor Mário Werneck, 
nº 621, 1º andar, Belo Horizonte city, Minas Gerais, with CNPJ (taxpayer 
identification number) 08.343.492/0001-20. 
 
 

2. Presentation of financial statements and summary of significant 
accounting policies 
 

2.1. Presentation of financial statements 
 

I. Statement of compliance 
 

The Company´s individual and consolidated financial statements (financial 
statements) have been prepared and are presented in accordance with 
accounting practices adopted in Brazil (BRGAAP) and also in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as issued by the 
International Accounting Standard Board (IASB), applicable to entities 
engaged in the construction of real estate properties in Brazil, as approved by 
the Accounting Pronouncements Committee (CPC), by the Brazilian Securities 
and Exchange Commission (CVM), and the Federal Accounting Council 
(CFC). In conformity with “OCPC 07 - Evidenciação na Divulgação dos 
Relatórios Contábil - Financeiros de Propósito Geral” (General Purpose 
Evidencing on Disclosure of Financial Statements), relevant information 
regarding the financial statements have been disclosed and belongs to those 
used by the administration for its management. 
 
The accounting practices adopted in Brazil comprise the policies set out in the 
Brazilian Corporate Law and the pronouncements, guidelines, and 
interpretations issued by the CPC, and approved by the CVM and the CFC. 
 

II. Basis of preparation 
 

The financial statements have been prepared based on the historical cost 
basis, except for certain financial instruments measured at fair value, as 
explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based 
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets. 
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The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs, 
applicable to entities engaged in the construction of real estate properties in 
Brazil, as approved by the CPC, the CVM, and the CFC, and in accordance 
with all the Pronouncements issued by the CPC. These standards include 
Guidance “OCPC 04 - Aplicação da Interpretação Técnica ICPC 02 às 
Entidades de Incorporação Imobiliárias Brasileiras” (Application of 
Interpretation ICPC 02 to Brazilian Real Estate Development Entities), which 
addresses the recognition of revenue and the related costs and expenses 
arising from real estate development operations during the progress of 
construction—percentage of completion method (POC).  
 
In November 2016, standard “CPC 47 – Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers” (IFRS 15) was issued by the CPC, effective for annual periods 
beginning or after January 1, 2018. The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of this standard. See note 3. 

   
III. Basis of consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of 
the Company and entities controlled directly by the Company or indirectly 
through its subsidiaries. The Company's subsidiaries included in consolidation 
are listed in note 8.  
 
The full consolidation method is used thus assets, liabilities and profits or 
losses of subsidiaries are combined with the corresponding line items of the 
Company’s financial statements, on a per line item basis, and the parent 
company’s interests in the subsidiaries’ equity, as well as all intragroup 
transactions, balances, revenue, and expenses are eliminated. 

 
In the consolidated financial statements, changes in equity interests in 
subsidiaries not resulting in loss of control are recognized as capital 
transactions. The accounting balances of the Company's and non-controlling 
interests are adjusted to reflect changes in their respective interests in the 
subsidiaries. The difference between the amount based on which 
noncontrolling interests are adjusted and the fair values of considerations paid 
or received are recognized directly in shareholders’ equity and attributed to the 
shareholders of the Company.  
 

2.2. Significant accounting policies 
 

The accounting policies described below have been consistently applied to all 
fiscal years presented in the individual and consolidated financial statements for 
both the Company and its subsidiaries. 

 
(a) Revenue recognition 
 

The policies adopted for calculating and recognizing income and recording the 
amounts in the line items ‘Revenue from real estate development’, ‘Real 
estate for sale’, ‘Receivables from real estate development’, and ‘Advances 
from customers’ follow the procedures and standards established by Guideline 
OCPC 04 of the Accounting Pronouncements Committee, which addresses 
the application of Interpretation ICPC 02 to Brazilian real estate entities, 
approved by CVM Resolution 653/10, as follows: 
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• For sales of uncompleted units, income is recognized based on the 
following criteria: 
 
(i) Sales revenues are allocated to profit or loss as construction 

progresses, as the incidental risks and rewards are transferred on a 
continuous basis. Accordingly, the Company adopts the percentage 
of completion method (POC) for each project.  Under the POC 
method, contract revenue is matched with costs incurred as 
compared to total budgeted costs of the related projects and revenue 
is determined by multiplying this percentage (POC) by the contracted 
sales. The land and construction costs inherent to the related 
developments of the units sold are allocated to net income when 
incurred. 

  
(ii) Sales revenues calculated according to item (i), measured at fair 

value, including inflation adjustment, net of installments already 
received, are recognized as accounts receivable or advances from 
customers, according to the ratio between recognized revenues and 
received amounts. 

 
• For installment sales of completed units, income is fully recognized at the 

time the sale is completed, regardless of the term for receiving the amount 
established by contract, and revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration receivable. 
 

• Interest and present value discount are allocated to profit or loss. Interest 
is recorded in line item ‘Revenue from real estate development’ during the 
period before the delivery of the units and in line item ‘Financial income’ 
during the period after the delivery of the units, on the accrual basis, 
regardless of actual receipts. 

 

 
Revenue and expenses are recorded on the accrual basis.  

 
The Company recognizes allowance for doubtful accounts for amounts whose 
recovery is considered remote. The estimates used are based on the 
agreements that are deemed uncollectible and for which there are no 
collaterals, which are directly linked to the transfer of the real estate unit to the 
buyer. The Company periodically reviews its assumptions to recognize 
allowance for doubtful accounts in light of the revision of the history of its 
current transactions and the improvement of its estimates. 
 

(b) Present value discount 
 

Monetary assets and monetary liabilities are discounted to their present value 
based on an effective interest rate resulting from short- (if material) and long-
term transactions, without yield or subject to: (i) fixed interest; (ii) interest rates 
clearly below market rates for similar transactions; and (iii) inflation adjustment 
only, with no interest. The Group periodically assesses the effect of this policy. 
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(c) Borrowing costs 
 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset, which necessarily take a substantial amount 
of time to be ready for the intended use or sale, are capitalized until the date 
they are substantially ready for the intended use or sale. These costs, 
consisting of financial charges on loans, financing and debentures related to 
the construction of real estate, are capitalized and stated in line item 
'Inventories (real estate for sale)’, net of the gains on the short-term 
investment of the funds raised as specific loans not yet spent on the qualifying 
assets and are allocated to profit or loss proportionately to the units sold. 
 
All other loan costs are recognized in profit or loss for the period they are 
incurred. 
  

(d) Impairment 
 

The Company assesses, at least annually, if there is any indications that 
property and equipment and intangible items are impaired.  In 2016 and 2015 
no indications that such assets may be impaired were identified. Additionally, 
the Company tests for impairment, at least annually, goodwill arising on the 
acquisition of an investment.  In 2016 and 2015, it was not necessary to 
recognize impairment losses, since tests did not indicate loss. 

 
(e) Financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when a group entity is 
a party to the contractual provision of the instruments and are initially 
measured at fair value.  
 
Transaction costs are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of 
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the 
fair value of financial assets and liabilities, if applicable, after their initial 
recognition.  Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized 
immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are stated at their net amounts in the 
balance sheet if, and only if, the Company has a legally enforceable right to 
offset the amounts recognized and if there is intent to simultaneously realize 
the asset and settle the liability. 

 
Financial assets 

 
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: (i) at fair value 
through profit or loss; (ii) held-to-maturity´s investments; (iii) loans and 
receivables; and (iv) available-for-sale. The classification depends on the 
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of 
initial recognition. Ordinary purchases or sales of financial assets are 
recognized and derecognized on a trade date basis. Ordinary purchases or 
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
in accordance with regulation or market practice. 
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A summary of the main accounting policies adopted to account for and 
present the Company's financial assets is provided below: 

 
• Cash and cash equivalents - Include amounts held as cash, bank 

accounts, and highly-liquid short-term investments, redeemable within 90 
days or less, and are exposed to an immaterial risk of change in fair 
value.  They are recognized at cost plus income earned through the end 
of each reporting period, on a pro rata basis, in line with realizable values.  
Short-term investments are classified as held-for-trading securities and 
are adjusted to their fair value at the end of the reporting period, when 
applicable, recognized in profit or loss. 

 

• Marketable securities - classified into two categories: held-to-maturity and 
available-for-sale securities. They are stated at cost, plus interest and 
inflation adjustment, less impairment losses, when applicable, incurred 
through the end of the reporting period, and available-for-sale securities 
are adjusted to their fair values at the end of the reporting period, 
recognized in other comprehensive income. 

 

• Receivables from real estate development - correspond to the amounts 
receivable from the sale of real estate units, initially recognized as 
described in paragraph “a” above, adjusted as contractually established, 
net of present value discount, when applicable, and classified as loans 
and receivables. 

 
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
party. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities are classified into one of the following two categories on 
their initial recognition: (i) financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; 
and (ii) other financial liabilities. 
 
The Company's financial liabilities are classified as ‘Other financial liabilities’ 
and are measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method, 
and include loans, financing and debentures, trade accounts payable, and 
land payables. 
 
Loans, financing and debentures are initially recognized when funds are 
received, net of transaction costs.  At the end of the reporting period they are 
carried at their initial recognition, less amortization of installments of principal, 
when applicable, plus the related charges incurred.  Transaction costs are 
presented as a reduction of current and noncurrent liabilities, and are 
recognized in profit or loss over the same repayment term of the financing 
from which they were originated based on the effective interest rate of each 
transaction 
 
Financial liabilities are derecognized when, and only when, the Group’ 
obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the sum of the 
consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss. 
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The Company does not have financial liabilities measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. 
 

(f) Inventories (real estate for sale) 
 

Inventory of completed units or under construction and not yet sold, including 
land bank, is stated at the incurred cost, which does not exceed market value. 
The land acquired under barter agreements is valued at the sales price of the 
bartered land and exceptionally at the sales price of the bartered units.  
Classification into current and noncurrent assets is based on the date 
scheduled to start building the project.  The effective construction cost of 
bartered units is diluted among the other units. 

 
Inventory of supplies is carried at the lower of average cost of purchase or 
their net realizable values. 

 
(g) Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 
 

Investments in subsidiaries are recorded in the Company’s Individual financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting, based on the subsidiaries’ 
financial statements as of the Company’s reporting period and prepared using 
the same accounting policies used in the Company’s financial statements.  
 
In the Company’s individual and consolidated financial statements, 
investments in joint ventures are recorded using the equity method, based on 
the related investees’ financial statements as of the Company’s reporting 
period and using the same accounting policies used in the Company’s 
financial statements. 
 
Profits and losses resulting from intragroup transactions are recognized in the 
financial statements only to the extent of the interest in the investee that are 
not related to the Group. 

 
(h) Goodwill 
 

Goodwill arising on a business combination, with indefinite useful life, is 
carried at cost on the date of the business combination net of accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.  As prescribed by ICPC 09, goodwill is classified in 
‘Investments’ line item, in the Individual and Consolidated balance sheet as it 
involves a joint venture. 
 

(i) Property and equipment 
 

Stated at cost, less depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, where 
applicable. Additions are classified as construction in progress and transferred 
to the appropriate categories when completed and ready for the intended use. 
These assets start to be depreciated when ready for the intended use, using 
the same base as the other property and equipment items already in use. 
 
Assets acquired through finance leases are depreciated over their expected 
useful lives as own assets or over a shorter period, according to the terms of 
the underlying lease agreement, when applicable. 
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(j) Intangible assets 
 

Separately acquired intangible assets with finite useful lives are stated at cost 
less amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

 
Research expenditure is recognized as an expense when incurred.  An 
internally generated intangible asset arising from expenditure on development 
is recognized if, and only if, all the conditions prescribed by CPC 04, 
paragraph 57, on intangible assets can be demonstrated. 
 
The amount initially recognized of internally generated intangible assets 
corresponds to the sum of the costs incurred since the time an intangible 
asset met the recognition criteria above.  When no internally generated 
intangible asset can be recognized, development expenditure is recognized in 
profit or loss, when incurred. 
 

(k) Depreciation, amortization, and derecognition of property and equipment and 
intangible assets 

 
Depreciation/amortization is recognized based on the estimated useful life of 
each asset on a straight-line basis, so that cost less its residual value after its 
useful life is fully written off, except for item “Aluminum molds”, classified in 
line item “Machinery and equipment”, which depreciation is calculated based 
on use and land and constructions/intangibles in progress that do not suffer 
depreciation. The estimated useful lives, the residual values, and the 
depreciation/amortization methods are reviewed at the end of the reporting 
period, and the effects from any change in estimates are recognized 
prospectively. 
 

(l) Assets and liabilities subject to inflation adjustment 
 

Assets and liabilities denominated in Brazilian reais and subject to contractual 
or legal indexation are adjusted for inflation based on the relevant index at the 
end of the reporting period.  Gains and losses arising on inflation adjustments 
are recognized on an accrual basis in the income statement. 
 

(m)  Provisions 
 

Provisions, including the provisions for civil, labor, and tax risks are 
recognized when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, that can be reliably estimated and it is probable that a 
disbursement will be required to settle the obligation. 
 
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, considering 
the risks and uncertainties inherent to such obligation. 
 
When some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected 
to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement is recognized when, 
and only when, it is certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount can be reliably measured. 
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(n) Provision for maintenance of real estate (Warranties) 
 

The accruals for the expected cost of property maintenance are recognized in 
the income statement using the same criterion for the allocation of real estate 
development revenue, described in paragraph “a” above, from the date the 
related real estate units are sold, based on management's best estimate of the 
disbursements required to settle the Company's obligation. 

 
(o) Stock option plan 
 

The Company has a share-based compensation plan under which certain 
employee’s services are compensated through the grant of stock options. The 
Company recognizes compensation cost in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period, from grant date to the date the options become 
exercisable, with a corresponding adjustment in equity. Compensation cost 
was determined based on the fair value of the options on the grant date using 
the Black & Scholes pricing model (note 19 (b)). 
 

(p) Taxation 
 

Current and deferred income tax, social contribution and taxes on sales are 
recognized in profit or loss, except when they correspond to items recognized 
in ‘Other comprehensive income’, or directly in shareholders’ equity, in which 
case current and deferred taxes are also recognized in ‘Other comprehensive 
income’ or directly in shareholders’ equity, respectively.  
 
The income tax and social contribution, and taxes on sales expenses 
represent the sum of current and deferred taxes. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates applicable 
for the period in which the liability is expected to be settled or the asset is 
expected to be realized, based on the tax rates set forth in the tax law 
prevailing at the end of each fiscal year, or when new legislation has been 
substantially approved. The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities 
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 
Company and its subsidiaries expect, at the end of the reporting period, to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

 
Income tax and social contribution 
 
Current taxes 

 

As allowed by prevailing tax legislation, the Company and its subsidiaries 
adopt the cash basis to calculate income from real estate development, and 
this income is used to determine taxable income.  
The provision for income tax and social contribution is based on taxable 
income for the year. Taxable income differs from the profit reported in the 
income statement, since it excludes income or expenses that are taxable or 
deductible in other years, as well as, permanently nontaxable or nondeductible 
items. The provision for income tax and social contribution is calculated 
separately for each company based on the prevailing tax rates. 
 
The Company and subsidiaries calculate income tax (IRPJ) and social 
contribution (CSLL) based on actual taxable income, deemed income or 
special taxation regime (RET) as detailed below: 
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• Actual taxable income—adopted by the Company. Under this taxation 

system, the income tax is calculated at the rate of 15%, plus a 10% 
surtax on taxable income above R$240, and social contribution is 
calculated at the rate of 9%, and both take into consideration the offset 
of tax loss carryforwards, limited to 30% of taxable income per fiscal 
year.  

 

• Deemed income—adopted by certain subsidiaries. Under the deemed 
income taxation system, each company's income for income tax and 
social contribution determination purposes is calculated on real estate 
revenue received at the 8 and 12 percent tax rates, respectively.  The 
income tax and social contribution rates prevailing at the end of the 
each fiscal year (15% plus a 10% surtax on income exceeding R$240 
per year for income tax, and 9% for social contribution) are levied on 
deemed income.  

 

• Special taxation regime (RET)—adopted by certain projects of the 
Company and subsidiaries. As allowed by Law 12024, of August 27, 
2009, which amends Law 10931/2004 that created the RET, it was 
elected to submit these projects to the earmarked assets and opt for 
the RET. For these projects, the consolidated income tax and social 
contribution, and the security funding tax on revenue (COFINS) and 
the social integration program tax on revenue (PIS) charges are 
calculated at the total overall tax rate of 4% on gross revenue received, 
being 1.92% for IRPJ and CSLL and 2.08% for PIS and COFINS. 

 
Deferred taxes 

 

Deferred income tax and social contribution (“deferred taxes”) are fully 
recognized as prescribed by CPC 32 and IAS 12 Income Tax on the 
temporary differences between assets and liabilities recognized for tax 
purposes and related amounts recognized in the financial statements by 
applying the statutory tax rates in effect on the date the financial statements 
were prepared and applicable when such temporary differences reverse. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable income will be generated to realize such deferred tax assets or 
loss carryforwards. The realization of deferred tax assets is assessed at the 
end of each annual reporting period and, when it is no longer probable that 
future taxable income will be available to recover of all or part of the assets, 
they are adjusted to the expected recoverable amount. 
 
Taxes on revenue 

 

Revenue is stated net of taxes on sales (PIS and COFINS). For PIS and 
COFINS calculation purposes, total tax rate is 9.25% for taxation based on 
actual taxable income, 3.65% under the deemed income taxation and 2.08% 
under the RET. 
 
Beginning July 1, 2015, as provided for by Decree 8426, financial income 
earned by legal entities subject to the noncumulative calculation regime are 
subject to a 0.65% PIS tax rate and a 4% COFINS tax rate. 
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(q) Treasury shares 
 

Own equity instruments reacquired by the Company are recognized at cost 
and deducted from shareholders’ equity.  Transaction costs incurred on share 
buybacks are added to the purchase cost of such shares. 
 

(r) Use of estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of certain assets 
and liabilities, and revenues and expenses in the reporting periods. Since 
management’s judgment involves estimates related to the probability of future 
events, actual results could differ from those estimates.  
 
Significant estimates and assumptions are used on the accounting of revenue, 
that consider estimated budgeted cost of projects (item (a) above), provision 
for maintenance of real estate (note 16); depreciation and amortization on 
property and equipment and intangible asset items, subject to useful lives and 
the residual values estimates (note 9 and 10); provisions for civil, labor and tax 
risks (note 17); stock option plan (note 19, (b)), fair values of financial 
instruments (note 25), goodwill on the acquisition of investments (note 8).  
 
The Company revises its estimates and assumptions at least annually.  The 
effects arising from these revisions are recognized in the year when the 
estimates are revised if such revision impacts only such year, or also in 
subsequent years if the revision impacts both the current and future fiscal 
years. 
 

(s) Functional and reporting currency 
 

The Company's functional and presentation currency used in the individual 
and consolidated financial statements is the Brazilian real.  The financial 
information is presented in thousands of Brazilian reais, unless otherwise 
stated. 
 

(t) Statement of value added 
 

The Company prepares individual and consolidated statements of value 
added in accordance with Brazilian Accounting Standard (CPC) 09 - 
Demonstração do Valor Adicionado (Statement of Value Added), which are 
presented as an integral part of the financial statements prepared in 
accordance with the BRGAAP applicable to publicly heal companies, while for 
IFRS purposes they are presented as supplemental information.  
 

(u) Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net income attributed to 
the holders of common shares of the parent entity by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding during the year, less treasury shares, 
if any. 
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Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing net income attributed to 
the holders of common shares of the parent entity by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding during the year, less treasury shares, 
if any, plus the number of common shares that would be issued assuming that 
the stock options would be exercised at a price lower than the market price. 
 
 

3. Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations 
already issued and not yet adopted 

 
The standards and interpretations issued but not yet adopted up to the date of 
issuance of the Group's financial statements are presented below. The Group 
intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they come into force. 

 
• IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (CPC 48) 
• IFRS 16 – Leasing (not yet issued by CPC) 

 

In light of the Group’s current operations, management does not anticipate any 
material impacts on the financial statements from these changes after their 
adoption.  
 

Additionally, in November 2016, CPC 47 – Receitas de contratos com clientes 
(IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers) was issued by CPC. This 
pronouncement establishes a new rule to be applied to revenue originating from 
contracts with customers, effective for annual periods beginning or after January 1, 
2018. CPC 47’s principles provide a more structured approach to measuring and 
recognizing revenue. The new standard is applicable to all entities and replaces all 
the current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. The Company is 
currently assessing the impact of this pronouncement and plans to adopt the new 
standard when it becomes effective. 
 
There are no other issued standards and interpretations not yet adopted that 
could, according to management, have a significant impact on the Company´s 
results or financial position. 
 
 

4. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 
 
The amounts of the short-term investments include a clause for immediate liquidity 
without any penalty on redemption and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
change in value. 
 

  

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Cash 691           726           831           840           
Bank accounts 219,793    198,822    393,304    346,906    

220,484    199,548    394,135    347,746    
Short-term investments:

Units of exclusive investment fund 759,565    338,722    1,099,824 507,347    
Units of non-exclusive investment fund 76,988      63,940      76,988      68,216      
Bank Certif icates of Deposit (CDBs) 188,483    450,666    192,211    467,073    
Certif icates backed by debentures 394           203,199    394           205,432    

1,025,430 1,056,527 1,369,417 1,248,068 
Total 1,245,914 1,256,075 1,763,552 1,595,814 

Individual Consolidated
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The Company established exclusive investment funds, managed by first-rate 
banks, responsible for the custody of the assets and financial settlement of its 
transactions. The established funds are highly liquid and aim at yielding interest 
equivalent to the Certificate of Interbank Deposit rate (CDI). The funds invest in 
government and other banks securities and in others nonexclusive investment 
funds, which in turn invest primarily in fixed-income securities. As at December 31, 
2016, said funds yielded average interest equivalent to 100.03% of CDI in 
Individual and 100.20% on a consolidated basis. (102.15% of CDI in Individual and 
on a consolidated basis as at December 31, 2015) 
Breakdown of the exclusive investment funds portfolio, proportionately to the units 
held by the Company: 
 

 
 
Investments in nonexclusive investment funds, CDBs, and repurchase agreements 
have yield equivalent to 104.06% of CDI in Individual and 103.99% of CDI on a 
consolidated basis (101.69% and 101.66% of CDI in Individual and on a 
consolidated basis, respectively, as at December 31, 2015). 
 
Investment in repurchase agreements backed by debentures can be immediately 
redeemed according to Company needs and their yield is pegged to the CDI. 
 
 

5. Marketable securities 
 

 
 
The units of nonexclusive investment funds refer to the amount raised by the 4th 
issue of debentures to be allocated to new projects. After this allocation and the 
corresponding approval by the Fiduciary Agent, the funds are disbursed according 
to the time budget of the projects financeable by the debentures.  When the 
amount generated by these projects reaches the financed amount, these funds 
return to the fund to finance new projects. As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the 
fund’s portfolio consisted of highly-liquid government and private securities.  
 
There was no gain or loss resulting from this asset, to be allocated to valuation 
adjustments to shareholders’ equity. 
 
Restricted savings deposits are held during the project construction period and 
correspond to moneys contributed by Caixa Econômica Federal (Federal 
Government savings bank) to open Crédito Associativo.  
 

  

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Bank Certif icates of Deposit (CDBs) 380,338    210,938    550,716    315,948    
Repurchase agreements 247,438    91,880      358,281    137,622    
Government and private sector securities 81,946      25,994      118,656    38,934      
Units of non-exclusive investment fund 38,253      9,116        55,389      13,654      
Other 11,590      794           16,782      1,189        
Total 759,565    338,722    1,099,824 507,347    

Individual Consolidated

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Investment fund units 101,808    118,809    101,808    118,809    
Investment tied to savings deposits 4,826        5,544        7,055        5,544        
Real estate consortium 4,619        4,057        4,619        4,057        
Debentures (Note 18 (a)) 144,037    -               144,037    -               
Total 255,290    128,410    257,519    128,410    

Individual Consolidated
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6. Trade accounts receivable 

 
 
The amounts related to receivables for real estate development include fixed-rate 
contracts with fixed installments, floating-rate contracts with interest rates below 
those of similar transactions and floating-rate contracts indexed to inflation which 
are interest free and discounted to present value using the higher of the rate of the 
Company’s weighted market funding rate, less inflation indices, and the yield rates 
of government securities with similar risks and terms; and (ii) floating-rate 
contracts plus interest of 6% to 12% p.a. The rates used to discount to present 
value as at December 31, 2016 ranged from 0.5148% per month to 0.5174% per 
month (0.6071% per month to 0.6112% at December 31, 2015). The assumptions 
made by the Company's management for the calculation of the present value 
discount, are consistent among the periods, and thus there were no changes in 
assumptions during the reporting periods. 
 
Floating-rate contracts are adjusted based on various financial indices, mainly the 
National Civil Construction Index (INCC) for the period before the delivery of the 
units, and the General Market Price Index (IGPM) or the National Broad Consumer 
Price Index (IPCA) for the period after the delivery of the units. 
 
The agreements entered into and to be entered with Caixa Econômica Federal 
and Banco do Brasil involving subsidized mortgage loans correspond to 
approximately 68% of the balance of receivables from real estate development 
and unearned sales revenue, as at December 31, 2016. The agreements already 
entered into with the financial institutions above mentioned, correspond to 27% 
and 4% respectively (14% and 10% as at December 31, 2015).  
 
Note 2.2 (a) describes the policies used for the recognition of revenues earned on 
real estate operations, as summarized below:  
 
• receivables were recognized up to the amount of real estate operations 

conducted in the year, including the related financial income, under the 
conditions described above, as applicable; 
 

• the present value discount represents the portion of interest to be earned in 
future years, on the accrual basis and is realized to calculate revenue at its fair 
value, and the reversals of present value discount are recognized in profit or 
loss for the year, in line item revenue from real estate development, during the 
period before the delivery of the units, and in line item financial income  during 
the period after the delivery of the units; 

  

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Receivables from real estate development
Receivables from real estate development 1,687,461   2,018,272 2,826,366  3,376,613  
Present value discount (25,991)      (29,457)    (49,273)      (47,883)      
Allow ance for doubtful accounts (83,845)      (35,971)    (127,256)    (55,633)      

1,577,625   1,952,844 2,649,837  3,273,097  
Current 990,918      1,209,389 1,658,435  2,069,233  
Noncurrent 586,707      743,455    991,402     1,203,864  

Receivables from services provided
Related parties (Note 18 (b)) 183             283           1,673         4,260         
Other receivables 1,066          1,352        1,917         1,710         
Total - current 1,249          1,635        3,590         5,970         

Individual Consolidated
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• receipts in excess of the recognized balances of receivables were recognized 
as advances from customers, in liabilities and are disclosed in note 13; and 

• sales revenue are allocated to net income as construction develops, using the 
method called “POC”, which records the percentage of completion of each 
project, as described in note 2.2 (a). The land and construction costs inherent to 
the related developments of the units sold are allocated to net income when 
incurred. 

 
Unearned gross sales revenue and cost to be incurred unrecognized balances 
referring contracted sales of uncompleted units, including related financial income, 
if applicable, are as follows: 
 

 
 

(*) Does not include the impacts of future inflation, taxes on sales, financial charges, and maintenance costs. 

 
The aging of the amounts above referring to receivables from real estate 
development and unearned sales revenue is as follows: 
 

 
 

For simultaneous sales, before accepting a new customer, the Company sends 
documentation of prospective customers to the financing agents, which conduct 
their loan granting internal reviews. For other cases, the Company uses an internal 
credit rating system of each prospective customer, based on his or her personal 
documentation, level of indebtedness, master file restrictions, and proofs of 
income. Based on these analyses, a credit limit is defined and if not approved sale 
is not completed. See note 25 (e) for the credit risk. 
 
Discounts, rebates and returns are deducted directly from revenue from real estate 
development and refer substantially to cancellation of sale agreements for 
properties not yet delivered. The amounts related to cancellations comprise all the 
revenue earned, net of the contractual fine to reimburse expenses incurred by the 
Company and its subsidiaries. Cancellations are recognized as they occur. 
 
As at December 31, 2016, the Company has trade accounts receivable pledged as 
collateral of construction financing totaling R$825,482 (R$1,178,766 at December 
31, 2015). 

  

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Unearned gross sales revenue (*) 1,119,562   1,428,246 2,058,930  2,655,687  
Costs to be Incurred (*) (663,541)    (843,845)  (1,224,724) (1,545,377) 

Individual Consolidated

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

After the reporting period
1 year 1,768,881   2,216,474 3,169,711  3,969,065  
2 years 806,918      1,016,266 1,368,613  1,752,217  
3 years 104,000      127,120    144,071     175,631     
4 years 14,445        18,281      22,862       28,615       
After 4 years 2,943          2,949        3,510         3,256         

2,697,187   3,381,090 4,708,767  5,928,784  
Unearned sales revenue 1,119,562   1,428,246 2,058,930  2,655,687  
Receivables from real estate development 1,577,625   1,952,844 2,649,837  3,273,097  

Individual Consolidated
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7.   Inventories (real estate for sale) 
 

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Real estate under construction 1,427,884    1,185,171    2,376,402    1,891,991    
Completed units 29,522         37,216         40,895         56,684         
Land bank 2,728,422    2,090,299    3,679,914    2,991,596    
Advances to suppliers 20,257         17,418         32,678         30,846         
Inventories of supplies 2,353           7,164           5,772           11,409         
Total 4,208,438    3,337,268    6,135,661    4,982,526    
Current 1,978,060    1,726,997    3,076,734    2,726,289    
Noncurrent 2,230,378    1,610,271    3,058,927    2,256,237    

Individual Consolidated

 
 

This line item incorporates apartments and houses for sale, both completed and 
under constructions, and land for future developments.  As at December 31, 2016, 
this line item also includes the capitalization of financial charges, as detailed in 
note 11 (f), totaling R$446,781 in Individual (R$327,258 as at December 31, 2015) 
and R$461,764 on a consolidated basis (R$334,611 as at December 31, 2015). A 
project’s land is transferred to line item ‘Real estate under construction’ when the 
project sales are initiated. 
 
The Company has agreements with financial institutions to finance the 
construction of real estate (see note 11). As at December 31, 2016, the Company 
has real estate under construction recognized in assets, used as collateral of loans 
and financing agreements, totaling R$143,791 and R$290,052 (R$172,151 and 
R$286,279 as at December 31, 2015), in Individual and Consolidated, 
respectively. 
 
The information on (i) the net revenue amount generated by units under 
construction, (ii) the costs incurred and the profits recognized to date, and (iii) the 
advances received or resulting from barters, and the related criteria adopted for 
their recognition, are described in note 22.  

 
 

8. Interests in subsidiaries and joint ventures 
 

a) The main information on equity interests is summarized as follows: 

 

(*) Includes the impacts of unrealized gains/losses, as described in (d) below. 

Results from equity

participation 

Equity interest Shareholders' equity Net income (loss) Investment patrimonial

12/31/16 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/15 2016 2015 12/31/16 12/31/15 2016 2015

Joint control:

LOG Commercial Properties e Participações S.A. (*) 39.87% 37.87%   1,774,157   1,495,765     35,647      17,196      713,889      573,958     13,234     14,156 
MRL Engenharia e Empreendimentos S.A. 37.41% 37.41%        12,804        22,524      (9,297)           264         4,790         8,426      (3,478)           99 
PRIME Incorporações e Construções S.A. 60.00% 60.00%     (139,727)     (102,028)    (37,618)     (62,502)       (83,836)       (61,217)    (22,571)    (37,501)
SCP Royal Palms Club 70.00% 70.00%         6,397         6,871      (3,870)     (16,644)         4,478         4,810      (2,709)    (11,651)
Other 44 SCPs        48,386        52,415    (16,130)     (44,502)        29,335        31,630    (11,703)    (24,388)
MRV MRL XXII Inc SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%        16,763        15,319         332        9,441        10,896         9,957         216       6,137 
MRV MRL XXIV Inc SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%        27,940        18,575       5,846      11,249        18,161        12,074       3,800       7,312 
MRV PRIME Pq Chap Mantiqueira SPE LTDA. 60.00% 60.00%        17,140         3,435     10,428           209        10,284         2,061       6,257         125 
Pq Chapada do Mirante SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%        12,463        19,892     22,132        6,601         8,101        12,930     14,386       4,291 
Top Taguatinga II SPE LTDA. 70.00% 70.00%        26,727        54,518    (24,268)     (19,737)        18,709        38,163    (16,988)    (13,816)
Top Taguatinga SPE LTDA. 70.00% 70.00%        36,279        78,073    (13,948)     (17,679)        25,395        54,651      (9,764)    (12,375)
Other 37 SPEs      203,206      224,292    (12,177)     (20,875)      120,905      131,786      (7,689)    (12,547)
Goodwill on acquisition of controlled entity                -                -              -               -         3,237         3,237              -              - 

Total jointly controlled entities- Individual   2,042,535   1,889,651    (42,923)    (136,979)      884,344      822,466    (37,009)    (80,158)
Elimination of indirect interests                -                -              -               -     (100,867)       (82,626)    (20,279)    (15,674)

Total jointly controlled - Consolidated   2,042,535   1,889,651    (42,923)    (136,979)      783,477      739,840    (57,288)    (95,832)
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Results from equity

participation 

Equity interest Shareholders' equity Net income (loss) Investment patrimonial

12/31/16 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/15 2016 2015 12/31/16 12/31/15 2016 2015
Subsidiaries:

MDI Desenvolvimento Imobiliário LTDA. (*) 99.90% 99.90%         2,384         2,536        (159)          (237)       (10,728)       (10,578)        (159)        (237)
MRV Construções LTDA. 95.00% 95.00%        32,175        42,894        (193)            (34)        30,566        40,749        (183)          (32)
Urbamais Properties e Participações S.A. 60.00% 60.00%        56,882        27,558     14,323        4,444        34,129        16,535       8,594       2,666 
SCP Esp Campo Cruzeiro 99.50% 99.50%        13,025        22,602     29,951      18,755        12,960        22,489     29,801     18,661 
SCP Parque Monte Cristal 77.50% 77.50%         6,015        11,605      (1,723)      12,376         4,662         8,994      (1,335)       9,591 
SCP Pq. Fonte dos Pássaros 75.00% 75.00%         2,816         5,633      (1,065)      11,670         2,112         4,225        (799)       8,753 
SCP Spázio Reserva Imperial 71.00% 71.00%         2,704         7,803     13,117        3,527         1,920         5,540       9,313       2,504 
Other 229 SCPs      300,462      417,706    (70,340)     (85,019)      243,299      335,965    (49,590)    (64,196)
Campo Di Itália SPE LTDA. 99.50% 99.50%         7,662        11,361     13,152        3,603         7,624        11,304     13,086       3,585 
MD PE Jd Ipes In SPE LTDA. 60.00% 60.00%         5,322         8,004       1,540      10,953         3,193         4,802         924       6,572 
Monte Santo Inc SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%         3,068        13,897      (2,406)      13,753         1,994         9,033      (1,564)       8,939 
MRV MD Vila Das Parreiras SPE LTDA. 60.00% 60.00%        13,885         8,077     12,790        4,091         8,331         4,846       7,674       2,455 
MRV MDI Maraponga IV SPE LTDA. 99.50% 99.50%        39,171         6,446       6,544        1,973        38,975         6,413       6,511       1,963 
MRV MRL Jardim De Viena SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%         9,177         4,723     13,590           496         9,085         4,676     13,454         491 
MRV MRL Jardim Jovita SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        14,046        12,834     12,354           831        13,906        12,706     12,230         823 
MRV MRL JF Copa Inc SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%         3,574        24,115       6,731        9,820         2,323        15,675       4,375       6,383 
MRV MRL Jf Mig Inc. SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%        13,423        (3,454)     10,469           352         8,725        (2,245)       6,805         229 
MRV MRL RJ2 Inc SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%         7,277         5,548       5,247      11,906         4,730         3,606       3,411       7,739 
MRV MRL XLVII Inc SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        (2,425)         1,923      (2,435)      11,163        (2,401)         1,904      (2,411)     11,051 
MRV MRL XXXIX Inc SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%        23,068        14,617     10,375        8,939        14,994         9,501       6,744       5,810 
MRV PRIME Pq Chapada Horizonte SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%         8,986        13,961         803      12,920         5,841         9,075         522       8,398 
MRV Prime Projeto MT C Incorp. SPE LTDA. 60.00% 60.00%        18,438         5,859     13,308        1,195        11,063         3,516       7,985         717 
MRV PRIME XLI Inc SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%         3,149         9,424       8,511        1,383         3,118         9,330       8,426       1,369 
MRV PRIME XLII SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        17,661         7,451     12,740        1,180        17,484         7,377     12,613       1,168 
MRV PRIME XXXVII Inc SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%         5,838        13,133       7,096      16,075         5,780        13,002       7,025     15,914 
MRV PRIME XXXVIII Inc SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%         1,734         2,594             7        7,176         1,717         2,568             7       7,104 
Parque Álamo SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        (2,039)           (337)       2,728      13,168        (2,019)           (334)       2,701     13,036 
Parque Alliance Inc SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        17,244        27,063     46,633      10,240        17,072        26,792     46,167     10,138 
Parque Amabile SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        15,003         2,385       8,316             25        14,853         2,361       8,233           25 
Parque Austria SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        37,415        12,884     16,030           506        37,041        12,755     15,870         501 
Parque Fremont Inc SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        14,205         7,046     10,974        3,277        14,063         6,976     10,864       3,244 
Parque Ilha Do Sol I SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        13,901        10,964       3,499        8,389        13,762        10,854       3,464       8,305 
Parque Lagoa Bella SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%         5,714         9,323         591      10,642         3,714         6,060         384       6,917 
Parque Los Alpes Inc SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%           (793)         2,538      (1,254)        6,152           (785)         2,513      (1,241)       6,090 
Parque Paradiso Inc SPE LTDA. 97.00% 97.00%         3,865        12,373       3,354      30,349         3,749        12,002       3,253     29,439 
Parque Perola Do Oriente SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%         7,043         9,308       9,174        9,008         6,973         9,215       9,082       8,918 
Parque Piazza Bellini SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        25,569        12,867     12,307        1,155        25,313        12,738     12,184       1,143 
Parque Piazza San Marco SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%         3,693         5,137       6,516           513         3,656         5,086       6,451         508 
Parque Porto Leon SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%         3,636        11,819       8,126        4,179         3,600        11,701       8,045       4,137 
Parque Rio das Hortências SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%         9,936         9,293     16,859        3,854         9,837         9,200     16,690       3,815 
Parque Rio Ebro SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%         5,596         8,340         322        9,660         5,540         8,257         319       9,563 
Parque Rio Iguaçu SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%         6,994         7,363       9,257        1,400         6,924         7,290       9,164       1,386 
Parque Salamanca SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        13,655         7,081       6,573           283        13,518         7,011       6,507         280 
Parque Santa Clara Inc SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%         1,712        31,056      (3,371)      21,963         1,695        30,745      (3,337)     21,743 
Parque Serra Azul SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        19,432         9,877     10,168           137        19,238         9,778     10,066         136 
Parque Solar dos Pássaros SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%        25,809         4,811     16,042            (21)        25,551         4,763     15,882          (21)
Parque Vila Imperial Inc SPE LTDA. 75.00% 75.00%         2,016         5,189        (225)        9,718         1,512         3,892        (169)       7,289 
Porto Gravatai Inc SPE LTDA. 99.00% 99.00%         4,705         7,701         623        8,576         4,658         7,624         617       8,490 
Pq Alabama Inc. SPE LTDA. 99.70% 99.70%        (2,241)         5,206      (1,454)      17,649        (2,234)         5,190      (1,450)     17,596 
Residencial Liberdade SPE LTDA. 99.50% 99.50%            171         5,576     10,742           432            170         5,548     10,688         430 
Roc 2 SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%         5,194        14,036       5,205      16,172         3,376         9,123       3,383     10,512 
Roc 3 SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%         8,847         6,716     12,823        7,191         5,751         4,365       8,335       4,674 
Roc 4 SPE LTDA. 65.00% 65.00%        12,826         5,667     12,696        3,097         8,337         3,684       8,252       2,013 
Other 462 SPEs   1,024,233   1,020,995     62,166     111,173      803,961      812,745     48,060     79,897 

Total subsidiaries - Individual   1,892,858   1,971,127   399,747     392,178   1,524,228   1,598,942   361,923   328,624 
Total subsidiaries and Jointly controlled entities - Individual   3,935,393   3,860,778   356,824     255,199   2,408,572   2,421,408   324,914   248,466 

(*) Includes the impact of unrealized gains/losses, as described in (d) below.
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b) Changes in investments are as follows: 
 

 
 

(*)In March 2015 the Company acquired stake in MRV LOG SP I Incorporações SPE Ltda. (“Office Park Pirituba”) from jointly controlled 
entities LOG Commercial Properties e Participações S.A. and LDI LOG Desenvolvimento Imobiliário Ltda. for R$110,000, as described in 
Note 18 (b) item (iv). 

 
c) The main information on the Company’s indirect investments is summarized as 

follows: 

 

 

Capital/ profit Equity in

subscription  subsidiaries 

 Opening (reduction / Proposed  jointly  Acquiring  Closing 

iniciais distribution) dividends entities  Subsidiaries (*) balances

Year ended December 31, 2016:
Joint control:

LOG Commercial Properties e Participações S.A.      573,958             130,072           (3,375)               13,234                              -      713,889 
MRL Engenharia e Empreendimentos S.A.         8,426                  (158)                   -               (3,478)                              -         4,790 
PRIME Incorporações e Construções S.A.       (61,217)                    (48)                   -              (22,571)                              -       (83,836)
Other      301,299              (27,604)                   -              (24,194)                              -      249,501 

Total jointly controlled entities - Individual      822,466             102,262           (3,375)              (37,009)                              -      884,344 

Elimination of indirect interests       (82,626)                 2,038                   -              (20,279)                              -     (100,867)
Total Jointly controlled entities - Consolidated      739,840             104,300           (3,375)              (57,288)                              -      783,477 

Subsidiaries:

MDI Desenvolvimento Imobiliário LTDA.       (10,578)                       9                   -                  (159)                              -       (10,728)
MRV Construções LTDA.        40,749              (10,000)                   -                  (183)                              -        30,566 
Urbamais Properties e Participações S.A.        16,535                 9,000                   -                8,594                              -        34,129 
Other   1,552,236            (435,646)                   -             353,671                              -   1,470,261 

Total subsidiaries - Individual   1,598,942            (436,637)                   -             361,923                              -   1,524,228 

Total subsidiaries and Jointly controlled entities - Individual   2,421,408            (334,375)           (3,375)             324,914                              -   2,408,572 

Year ended December 31, 2015:
Total Jointly controlled entities - Consolidated      825,447               10,868             (643)              (95,832)                              -      739,840 

Total subsidiaries and Jointly controlled entities - Individual   2,532,498            (463,111)             (643)             248,466                   104,198   2,421,408 

Total equity 

interest Shareholders' equity Net income (loss)

12/31/16 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/15 2016 2015

LOG Commercial Properties e Participações 
S.A.

Cabral 19.94% 18.94%     117,249     115,145          2,104        20,860 
LDI 39.87% 37.87%           488           403               38               13 
LOG Aracajú 39.87% 37.87%       21,612       19,936          1,437          3,089 
LOG Curitiba 39.87% 37.87%       43,472       40,762          2,503       (53,100)
LOG Feira De Santana 39.87% 37.87%       26,944       25,968         (1,086)          5,174 
LOG Fortaleza 39.87% 37.87%     146,490     122,759          4,983          8,321 
LOG Goiânia 39.83% 37.83%     119,429     107,779          8,910         (6,722)
LOG Hortolândia 39.87% 37.87%     129,736     129,653          3,524        17,353 
LOG I 39.87% 37.87%     177,074     161,303        29,946        25,583 
LOG II 39.87% 37.87%       44,351       44,013          2,297        10,377 
LOG Itatiaia 39.87% 37.87%       38,854       35,872          2,806          9,903 
LOG Juiz de Fora 39.87% 37.87%       67,649       62,730          2,684          3,946 
LOG Jundiaí 39.87% 37.87%       73,347       73,639             452          3,248 
LOG Londrina 39.87% 37.87%       80,983       73,774          5,534               30 
LOG Macaé 39.87% 37.87%       39,896       38,487          1,218        18,740 
LOG Rio 39.87% 37.87%     114,231       61,454        12,204        29,582 
LOG RP 39.87% 37.87%       53,245       52,277             379         (1,100)
LOG SJC Sony 39.87% 37.87%     105,051     102,776          2,178        18,700 
LOG SJP 39.87% 37.87%       31,989       28,486             468          1,819 
LOG SJRP 39.87% 37.87%       22,734       22,611            (180)         (1,271)
LOG Sumaré 39.87% 37.87%               8               8               (1)               (1)
LOG Uberaba 39.47% 37.49%       10,644        6,211          4,339            (642)
LOG Via Expressa 39.87% 37.87%     104,023     100,318          3,151        12,796 
LOG Viana 39.87% 37.87%     130,912     123,054          9,423          8,148 
Loteamento Betim 19.94% 18.19%       85,517       80,943               (4)              (12)
Office Park Pirituba 39.87% 37.87%             -               -                 -         (23,846)
Torino 15.95% 15.15%     337,249     331,910          5,340       (14,963)
Total  2,123,177  1,962,271       104,647        96,025 
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d) The total balances of direct or indirect jointly controlled entities’ balance sheet 
accounts and profit or loss accounts included in the consolidated financial 
statements are summarized as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 

Total equity 

interest Shareholders' equity Net income (loss)

12/31/16 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/15 2016 2015

Prime Incorporações e Construções Ltda.
MRV PRIME Pq Chap Mantiqueira SPE 39.00% 39.00%       17,140        3,435        10,428             209 
Pq Chapada do Mirante SPE LTDA. 18.30% 18.30%       12,463       19,892        22,132          6,601 
Top Taguatinga II SPE LTDA. 18.00% 18.00%       26,727       54,518       (24,268)       (19,737)
Top Taguatinga SPE LTDA. 18.00% 18.00%       36,279       78,073       (13,948)       (17,679)
Other 48 projects     130,505     145,814       (15,130)       (41,594)
Total     223,114     301,732       (20,786)       (72,200)

MRL Engenharia e Empreendimentos S.A.
MRV MRL XXII Inc SPE LTDA. 13.09% 13.16%       16,763       15,319             332          9,441 
MRV MRL XXIV Inc SPE LTDA. 13.09% 13.16%       27,940       18,575          5,846        11,249 
SCP Royal Palms Club 11.22% 11.28%        6,397        6,871         (3,870)       (16,644)
Other 34 projects       65,494       67,991       (16,219)       (34,844)
Total     116,594     108,756       (13,911)       (30,798)

Assets

 Current assets  Noncurrent assets  Total assets 

12/31/16 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/15

Companies
LOG Commercial Properties e Participações S.A.  164,985    30,073  2,376,237  2,181,140  2,541,222  2,211,213 
MRL Engenharia e Empreendimentos S.A.    15,333    58,182     181,433     174,300     196,766     232,482 
PRIME Incorporações e Construções S.A.    20,220    17,906     164,244     157,787     184,464     175,693 
SCP Royal Palms Club        915      6,953        5,873        6,379        6,788       13,332 
Other 44 SCPs  - Joint ventures    41,259    53,448       23,564       26,679       64,823       80,127 
MRV MRL XXII Inc SPE LTDA.    24,214    29,670        2,615           416       26,829       30,086 
MRV MRL XXIV Inc SPE LTDA.    29,628    28,586        4,473           282       34,101       28,868 
MRV PRIME Pq Chap Mantiqueira SPE LTDA.    35,914      8,694        5,528           636       41,442        9,330 
Pq Chapada do Mirante SPE LTDA.    10,438    30,204       15,688        1,202       26,126       31,406 
Top Taguatinga II SPE LTDA.      9,111    14,702       27,362       52,740       36,473       67,442 
Top Taguatinga SPE LTDA.    12,541    77,452       30,501       34,000       43,042     111,452 
Other 37 SPEs - Joint ventures  334,355  419,243     171,455     139,764     505,810     559,007 
Total  698,913  775,113  3,008,973  2,775,325  3,707,886  3,550,438 

Liabilities and shareholders' equity

 Current liabilities  Noncurrent liabilities  Shareholders' equity 

 liabilities and 

shareholders' equity 

12/31/16 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/15

Companies
LOG Commercial Properties e Participações S.A.   309,195   118,356   457,870       597,092   1,774,157   1,495,765   2,541,222   2,211,213 
MRL Engenharia e Empreendimentos S.A.     86,084     89,004     97,878       120,954        12,804        22,524      196,766      232,482 
PRIME Incorporações e Construções S.A.   282,058   215,155     42,133         62,566     (139,727)     (102,028)      184,464      175,693 
SCP Royal Palms Club           18       3,961         373           2,500         6,397         6,871         6,788        13,332 
Other 44 SCPs  - Joint ventures     13,547     17,666       2,890         10,046        48,386        52,415        64,823        80,127 
MRV MRL XXII Inc SPE LTDA.       7,667     15,976       2,399          (1,209)        16,763        15,319        26,829        30,086 
MRV MRL XXIV Inc SPE LTDA.       4,652       4,482       1,509           5,811        27,940        18,575        34,101        28,868 
MRV PRIME Pq Chap Mantiqueira SPE LTDA.       7,115      (3,224)     17,187           9,119        17,140         3,435        41,442         9,330 
Pq Chapada do Mirante SPE LTDA.       5,421       4,389       8,242           7,125        12,463        19,892        26,126        31,406 
Top Taguatinga II SPE LTDA.       4,087       5,716       5,659           7,208        26,727        54,518        36,473        67,442 
Top Taguatinga SPE LTDA.       3,962     18,242       2,801         15,137        36,279        78,073        43,042      111,452 
Other 37 SPEs - Joint ventures     96,008   119,151   206,596       215,564      203,206      224,292      505,810      559,007 
Total   819,814   608,874   845,537    1,051,913   2,042,535   1,889,651   3,707,886   3,550,438 
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Note: Some percentages and other amounts of items (a) to (d) in all tables above have been rounded to facilitate their 

presentation. Thus, some totals presented in the tables may not represent the exact arithmetical sum of the 
amounts above. 

 
As at December 31, 2016, upon the recognition of the results from equity 
participation in subsidiary MDI and in LOG, the unrealized profit or losses were 
eliminated as follows: (i) MDI: unrealized profits amounting to R$12,979 (R$13,111 
as at December 31, 2015); (ii) LOG: unrealized losses and profits by R$7,582 and 
R$1,042 respectively (R$8,508 and R$864 respectively as at December 31, 2015). 
The unrealized gains arise on the sale of land and the assignment of rights carried 
out, and the unrealized losses arise on the acquisition by the Company of a stake 
in a subsidiary of its joint venture LOG. 

 
Goodwill on the acquisition of jointly controlled entity MRL, in 2007, is based on 
expected future earnings and is not being amortized, as required by CPC 13. At 
the end of the reporting periods, the Company conducted the impairment tests 
prescribed by CPC 01 and concluded that this asset was not impaired. Company 
internal functions review these projections. 
 

The asset percentages related to the Company’s projects that are included in the 
merger’s equity segregation frameworks are as follows as at December 31, 2016 
and 2015, is as follows: 

 

 

  

Results

 Operating revenue 

 Cost of properties 

sold 

 Operating income 

(expenses) 

 Financial income 

(expenses) 

 Income tax and 

social 

contribution  Net income (loss) 

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Companies
LOG Commercial Properties e Participações S.A.    18,318    19,877            -              -      (2,742)    (15,119)   (18,891)   (11,162)  38,962  23,600    35,647     17,196 
MRL Engenharia e Empreendimentos S.A.           -             -              -           (739)    13,690     19,457   (22,987)   (18,453)         -           -      (9,297)          265 
PRIME Incorporações e Construções S.A.           -             -              -              -       2,236    (26,465)   (39,854)   (35,892)         -        (144)   (37,618)    (62,501)
SCP Royal Palms Club       (130)       (161)      (3,532)    (15,715)       (258)         (739)          59           (3)         (9)       (26)    (3,870)    (16,644)
Other 44 SCPs - Joint ventures      1,894     (1,233)    (13,410)    (24,857)    (7,807)    (21,400)     3,271     2,934       (78)        54   (16,130)    (44,502)
MRV MRL XXII Inc SPE LTDA.      5,490    26,181      (5,292)    (15,418)       (502)         (976)        785        247      (149)      (593)        332       9,441 
MRV MRL XXIV Inc SPE LTDA.    12,852    27,218      (7,416)    (14,787)       (245)         (323)        696          67       (41)      (926)     5,846     11,249 
MRV PRIME Pq Chap Mantiqueira SPE LTDA.    22,413      2,143      (9,503)      (1,260)    (2,190)         (666)        224          34      (516)       (42)    10,428          209 
Pq Chapada do Mirante SPE LTDA.    52,913    22,257    (27,025)    (13,551)    (3,063)      (1,745)        432          36   (1,125)      (396)    22,132       6,601 
Top Taguatinga II SPE LTDA.     (5,014)       (195)    (13,471)    (13,749)    (8,119)      (6,682)     2,328        915          8       (26)   (24,268)    (19,737)
Top Taguatinga SPE LTDA.    37,228    38,884    (43,357)    (48,662)    (9,144)      (7,530)     2,143        477      (818)      (848)   (13,948)    (17,679)
Other 37 SPEs - Joint ventures  131,101  184,350   (127,702)   (165,962)   (24,816)    (46,114)    12,167    11,008   (2,927)   (4,159)   (12,177)    (20,877)
Total  277,065  319,321   (250,708)   (314,700)   (42,960)   (108,302)   (59,627)   (49,792)  33,307  16,494   (42,923)   (136,979)

Projects under Law  10931/04 (Earmarked Assets) 5,043,086 40.91% 4,738,575 41.60%
Silent partnerships (SCPs) 329,354 2.67% 407,157 3.57%
Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) 855,526 6.94% 1,147,397 10.07%
Other entities 559,381 4.54% 467,310 4.10%
Projects w ith segregation 6,787,347 55.06% 6,760,439 59.34%
Projects w ithout segregation 5,539,666 44.94% 4,631,870 40.66%
Total Consolidated 12,327,013 100.00% 11,392,309 100.00%

Consolidated
12/31/2016 12/31/2015
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9. Property and equipment 
 

Changes in property and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2016 is as 
follows: 
 

 
 

As described in note 2.2 (k), the Company reviews the useful lives of property and 
equipment items on an annual basis, at the end of each annual reporting period. 
The average annual depreciation rates of property and equipment items were as 
follows: (i) buildings and leasehold improvements: 8.9%; (ii) aircraft and vehicles in 
use: 3.8%; (iii) machinery and equipment: 6.9%; (iv) furniture and fixtures: 10%; (v) 
IT equipment and installations: 8.4%; (vi) sales booths and model apartments: 
20%. 
 
At the end of the reporting periods, the Company’s management concluded that 
there were no indications of impairment of its tangible assets with finite useful 
lives, as none of the loss indicators set out in CPC 01, paragraphs 10 and 12, was 
evidenced. As at December 31, 2016, the residual value of items pledged as 
collateral for liabilities amount R$47,629 in Individual and on a consolidated basis 
(R$5,670 as at December 31, 2015). 

Individual

Opening 

balance Addition Write-off Transfer

Closing 

balance
Year ended December 31, 2016:
Cost:
Buildings, facilities and leasehold improvements 27,080      1,269        (102)         571           28,818      
Aircraft and vehicles in use 8,257        3,200        (1,006)      -               10,451      
Machinery and equipment 55,593      38,025      (9,596)      (1,067)      82,955      
Furniture and fixtures 2,918        23             (221)         483           3,203        
IT equipment and installations 6,717        96             (266)         189           6,736        
Sales booths, stores and model apartments 32,305      10,207      (601)         3,241        45,152      
Works in progress 3,363        4,491        (1,271)      (3,363)      3,220        
Total cost 136,233    57,311      (13,063)    54             180,535    
Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings, facilities and leasehold improvements 7,713        2,784        (53)           157           10,601      
Aircraft and vehicles in use 1,832        267           (364)         -               1,735        
Machinery and equipment 7,789        5,591        (1,955)      (317)         11,108      
Furniture and fixtures 1,831        322           (97)           177           2,233        
IT equipment and installations 4,777        570           (259)         -               5,088        
Sales booths, stores and model apartments 23,473      8,835        (595)         99             31,812      
Total accumulated depreciation 47,415      18,369      (3,323)      116           62,577      
Total property and equipment, net 88,818      38,942      (9,740)      (62)           117,958    
Year ended December 31, 2015:

Total property and equipment, net 67,734      26,253      (5,315)      146           88,818      

Consolidated
Year ended December 31, 2016:

Cost:
Buildings, facilities and leasehold improvements 27,985      2,501        (302)         1,300        31,484      
Aircraft and vehicles in use 8,257        3,200        (1,006)      -               10,451      
Machinery and equipment 61,446      38,870      (11,795)    (2,002)      86,519      
Furniture and fixtures 3,046        -               (456)         738           3,328        
IT equipment and installations 6,809        97             (320)         193           6,779        
Sales booths, stores and model apartments 55,476      14,654      (1,314)      6,283        75,099      
Works in progress 6,517        11,918      (1,271)      (6,512)      10,652      
Total cost 169,536    71,240      (16,464)    -               224,312    
Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings, facilities and leasehold improvements 7,833        2,805        (113)         194           10,719      
Aircraft and vehicles in use 1,832        267           (364)         -               1,735        
Machinery and equipment 8,627        5,944        (2,572)      (452)         11,547      
Furniture and fixtures 1,889        332           (180)         257           2,298        
IT equipment and installations 4,857        571           (306)         2               5,124        
Sales booths, stores and model apartments 39,187      15,012      (1,295)      (1)             52,903      
Total accumulated depreciation 64,225      24,931      (4,830)      -               84,326      
Total property and equipment, net 105,311    46,309      (11,634)    -               139,986    
Year ended December 31, 2015:

Total property and equipment, net 84,028      29,266      (7,983)      -               105,311    
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Depreciation is recognized based on the estimated useful life of each asset on a 
straight-line basis, except for item “Aluminum molds”, classified in line item 
“Machinery and equipment”, which depreciation is calculated based on use. 
 
 

10. Intangible assets 
 
Changes in intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2016 is as follows: 

 

 

 
 

The average annual amortization rate for software development and software 
license is 20%.  Estimated consolidated amortization expenses for the next five 
years are as follows: 
 

Individual Consolidated
2017 19,361     19,408                  
2018 16,479     16,526                  
2019 13,190     13,237                  
2020 8,436       8,483                    
2021 4,487       4,534                    
Total 61,953     62,188                   

 
Amortization expenses on intangible assets are allocated to line items ‘Cost of real 
estate sold and services’, ‘Selling expenses’, and ‘General and administrative 
expenses’, in the income statement, according to the nature and allocation of each 
intangible asset.  No intangible assets were pledged as collateral for liabilities. 
There are no fully amortized material intangible assets still in use by the Company. 
At the end of the reporting periods, the Company's management concluded that 
there were no indications of impairment of its intangible assets with finite useful 
lives, as none of the loss indicators set out in CPC 01, paragraphs 10 and 12, was 
evidenced.  

Trans-
Individual Inicial Adição Baixa ferência Final
Year ended December 31, 2016:

Cost:
Softw are development 55,686      2,302       -            13,358      71,346      
Softw are license 48,897      3,169       -            -               52,066      
Intangibles under development 14,498      12,915     -            (13,358)    14,055      
Trademarks and patents 24,000      -               -            -               24,000      
Total cost 143,081    18,386     -            -               161,467    

Accumulated amortization:
Softw are development 24,353      11,099     -            -               35,452      
Softw are license 34,511      5,551       -            -               40,062      
Total accumulated amortization 58,864      16,650     -            -               75,514      
Total intangible assets 84,217      1,736       -            -               85,953      
Year ended December 31, 2015:

Total intangible assets 76,776      7,441       -            -               84,217      

Consolidated
Year ended December 31, 2016:

Cost:
Softw are development 55,686      2,302       -            13,358      71,346      
Softw are license 48,901      3,169       -            -               52,070      
Intangibles under development 14,696      12,948     -            (13,358)    14,286      
Trademarks and patents 24,000      -               -            -               24,000      
Total cost 143,283    18,419     -            -               161,702    
Accumulated amortization:
Softw are development 24,352      11,098     -            -               35,450      
Softw are license 34,516      5,548       -            -               40,064      
Total accumulated amortization 58,868      16,646     -            -               75,514      
Total intangible assets 84,415      1,773       -            -               86,188      
Year ended December 31, 2015:

Total intangible assets 76,886      7,529       -            -               84,415      
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11. Loans, financing and debentures 
 

 
 

(a) Debentures: 
 
Breakdown of debentures per maturity (period after the end of the reporting 
period) is as follows: 
 

 
 

The main features of the Company’s debentures are as follows: 
 

 
(*) Spread for projects with a market value higher than the value set by the FGTS Board is 10.25% p.a. 

 
On January 15, 2015, the Company recognized received proceeds totaling 
R$304,059 related to the 7th public issue of simple, nonconvertible debentures, 
with unsecured guarantees, represented by 30,000 debentures with par value of 
ten thousand Brazilian reais. In September 2015, the Company repurchased 
4,888 debentures amounting R$51,258 and canceled them in November 2015. 
The Company redeemed the referred debentures by the amount of R$270,337 
on its maturity date, in December 05, 2016. 
 
On July 1st, 2016, the Company redeemed the 5th issue of debentures by the 
amount of R$268,762. 

  
The debentures issued by the Company are simple, nonconvertible, registered, 
book-entry. The 4th issue debentures are collateralized by the collateral 
assignment of accounts linked to the referred issue and investment of received 
proceeds.  
 

  

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Debentures (a) 336,441    1,135,775 336,441       1,135,775 
Loans and f inancing (b) 1,516,294 889,023    1,994,937    1,116,768 
(-) Funding cost (16,954)    (2,892)      (17,738)       (2,892)      
Total (c) 1,835,781 2,021,906 2,313,640    2,249,651 
Current 872,900    1,091,266 937,050       1,118,678 
Noncurrent 962,881    930,640    1,376,590    1,130,973 

Individual Consolidated

12/31/2015
4th issue 6th issue Total Total

Amortization:
1 year 80,673        255,768      336,441      805,775      
2 years -                  -                  -                  330,000      

Total 80,673        255,768      336,441      1,135,775   
Funding cost:
1 year -                  (256)            (256)            (1,637)         
2 years -                  -                  -                  (256)            

Total -                  (256)            (256)            (1,893)         
Total, net 80,673        255,512      336,185      1,133,882   

Individual e Consolidated
12/31/2016

Charge 

Issue Date Series Number Amount Contractual rate Effective rate Maturity payment

4t h 12/23/2010 single 300 300,000 TR + 8.25% p.a.(*) TR + 8.42% p.a.(*) 12/13 to 12/17 Semiannual
6t h 05/03/12 single 500,000 500,000 CDI + 1.50% p.a. CDI + 1.65% p.a. 05/16 and 05/17 Semiannual
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(b) Loans and financing: 
 

Breakdown of loans and financing as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as 
follows:  

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Type:
Bank credit notes 618,394     60,590      643,421     60,590      
Working capital 238,381     426,478    238,381     426,478    
Construction f inancing 623,984     393,725    1,077,600  621,470    
FINAME financing 18,035       8,230        18,035       8,230        
Leasing 17,500       -               17,500       -               

1,516,294  889,023    1,994,937  1,116,768 
(-) Funding cost (16,698)     (999)         (17,482)     (999)         
Total 1,499,596  888,024    1,977,455  1,115,769 

Individual Consolidated

 
 

As at December 31, 2016, main terms and conditions of loans and financing 
are as follows: 
 
 

Funding Repayment of Interest Maturity of Contractual rate Actual
Type date principal payment principal Index (p.a.) rate (p.a.)

Bank Credit Notes 02/16 Semiannual Semiannual 02/18 to 02/23 CDI CDI + 2.03% CDI + 2.28%
Bank Credit Notes 06/16 Semiannual Monthly 12/17 to 06/19 CDI CDI + 1.60% CDI + 2.21%
Bank Credit Notes 10/16 Quarterly Quarterly 01/17 to 10/18 CDI CDI + 1.60% CDI + 1.62 to 2.16%
Bank Credit Notes 10/16 Monthly Semiannual 08/19 to 11/09 CDI CDI + 1.20% CDI + 2.44%
Bank Credit Notes 11/16 Bullet payment Bullet payment 12/18 CDI CDI + 0.40% CDI +1.07%
Bank Credit Notes 12/16 Quarterly Quarterly 06/18 to 01/19 CDI CDI +1.30% CDI +2.19%
Bank Credit Notes 12/16 Annual Monthly 12/17 to 12/19 CDI CDI +1.15% CDI +1.93%
Working capital 06/14 Semiannual Monthly 06/17 to 06/18 CDI 113% CDI 113.00% CDI + 0.12%
Working capital 07/13 Semiannual Monthly 12/15 to 06/17 CDI 111% CDI 111% CDI
Working capital 07/13 Annual Semiannual 06/16 to 06/17 CDI CDI + 2.05% CDI + 2.83%
Construction f inancing (*) Sundry Semiannual Semiannual 01/17 to 09/18 TR TR + 10.21% to 12.15% TR + 11.14% to 12.15%
Construction f inancing 03/16 Monthly Monthly 04/16 to 03/23 TR TR + 13.29% TR + 13.29%
Construction f inancing Sundry Bullet payment Bullet payment 06/17 to 08/17 TR TR + 12.00% TR + 12.00%
Construction f inancing Sundry Sundry Sundry 05/14 to 09/21 TR TR+ 8.00% to 12.00% 8.00% to 12.00%
FINAME financing Sundry Monthly  Monthly 07/16 to 07/19 TJLP TJLP + 3.70% to 4.50% 3.7% to 4.5%
FINAME financing Sundry Monthly Monthly 10/16 to 09/19 Fixed rate 4.50% to 9.50% 4.50% to 9.50%
Leasing Sundry Monthly Monthly 01/17 to 12/19 CDI CDI + 2.50% to 2.85% CDI + 2.50% to 2.85%  

 

(*) As mentioned in note 25 (b), for these operations the Company hired derivative financial instruments (interest rate swap) 
to hedge its exposure to TR plus fixed rate, by pegging interest to CDI. 
 

 
On December 5, 2016, the Company fully redeemed a bank credit note 
operation in the amount of R$64,496. 
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Funding during the year ended December 31, 2016 is as follows: 
 

Funding Repayment of Interest Maturity of Contractual rate 
Type date principal payment principal (p.a.) Amount (**)

Bank Credit Notes 02/16 Semiannual Semiannual 02/18 to 02/23 CDI + 2.03%          70,000 
Bank Credit Notes 06/16 Semiannual Monthly 12/17 to 06/19 CDI + 1.60%        115,091 
Bank Credit Notes 10/16 Quarterly Quarterly 10/17 to 10/18 CDI + 1.60%          90,143 
Bank Credit Notes 10/16 Quarterly Quarterly 01/17 to 10/18 CDI + 1.60%            5,100 
Bank Credit Notes 10/16 Monthly Semiannual 08/19 to 11/19 CDI + 1.20%          50,000 
Bank Credit Notes 11/16 Bullet payment Bullet payment 12/18 CDI + 0.40%        175,146 
Bank Credit Notes 12/16 Quarterly Quarterly 06/18 to 01/19 CDI +1.30%        100,000 
Construction f inancing (*) 06/16 Semiannual Monthly 06/17 to 06/18   TR + 12.15% (*)        100,000 
Construction f inancing (*) 07/16 and 08/16 Semiannual Semiannual 01/17 to 09/18 TR + 10.21% (*)        105,201 
Construction f inancing 06/16 and 08/16 Bullet payment Bullet payment 06/17 to 08/17 TR + 12.00%          50,000 
Construction f inancing Sundry Sundry Sundry 02/16 to 09/21 TR+ 8.00% to 12.00%        462,983 
FINAME financing 03/16 a 06/16 Monthly  Monthly 07/16 to 04/19 TJLP + 3.70%            3,953 
FINAME financing 07/16 and 12/16 Monthly Monthly 12/16 to 08/19 TJLP + 4.50%            7,888 
Leasing 07/16 and12/16 Monthly Monthly 01/17 to 12/19 CDI + 2.50% e 2.85%          16,899 
Total Individual     1,352,404 
Construction f inancing Sundry Sundry Sundry 02/16 to 09/21 TR+ 8.00% to 12.00%        555,767 
Construction f inancing 03/16 Monthly Monthly 04/16 to 03/23 TR + 13.29%          13,566 
Bank Credit Notes 12/16 Anuais Monthly 12/17 to 12/19 CDI +1.15%          25,000 
Total Consolidated     1,946,737  

 
(*) As mentioned in note 25 (b), for these operations the Company hired derivative financial instruments (interest rate swap) 
to hedge its exposure to TR plus fixed rate, by pegging interest to CDI. 
(**) Gross of funding cost. 

 
Construction financing agreements are collateralized by receivables (see note 
6) or mortgage of land (see note 7). 
 

(c) Guarantees 
 
The types of guarantees for loans, financing and debentures as at December 
31, 2016 are as follows: 
 

                            Consolidated

Bank 

Credit Working Construction Finame 

Debentures Notes capital financing financing Leasing Total

Collateral / surety 336,441         167,011       107,922    265,830               18,035      17,500      912,739    
Collateral / receivables -                     -                   -               811,770               -               -               811,770    
No guarantees -                     476,410       130,459    -                           -               -               606,869    
Total (*) 336,441         643,421       238,381    1,077,600            18,035      17,500      2,331,378 

 
(*) Amounts of loan, financing and debentures gross of funding cost.  

 
(d) Maturities 

 
 Breakdown of loans, financing and debentures by maturity is as follows: 

 

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

After the reporting period
1 year 872,900    1,091,266 937,050    1,118,678 
2 years 672,780    758,042    918,794    872,094    
3 years 234,413    170,461    396,146    249,957    
4 years 16,322      1,940        18,204      8,725        
After 4 years 39,366      197           43,446      197           
Total 1,835,781 2,021,906 2,313,640 2,249,651 

Individual Consolidated
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(e) Contractual obligations  
 
Related to financial ratios: 
 
The 4th public issue of debentures indenture and several loans and financing 
provide for certain obligations related to financial ratios compliance, 
determined and reviewed on a quarterly basis by the fiduciary agent, as 
follows: 

 
Description Required ratio

(Net debt + properties payable) to Equity Low er than 0.65
(Receivables+unearned revenue+inventories) to (Net debt+properties payable+unrecognized cost) Higher than 1.6 or low er than 0  

 
Net debt corresponds to the total short- and long-term bank debt, less financing received under the Housing 
Financial System or the financing granted by the Investment Fund of the Severance Pay Fund (FI-FGTS) or 
the financing obtained through the issue of debentures using FGTS funds, and less cash, banks, and short-
term investments. This ratio presents some variances for a specific loan, related to short-term investments in 
banks that are related parties and bank guarantees given to joint ventures. 
 
Properties payable corresponds to the sum of line item ‘Land payables’ in current and noncurrent liabilities, 
less the land acquired through barters, if any. 
 
Receivables corresponds to the sum of the trade short- and long-term receivables, disclosed in the financial 
statements. 
 
Unearned revenue corresponds to the balance disclosed in notes to the consolidated financial statements 
related to the sales already contracted of uncompleted real estate units, not disclosed in the balance sheet in 
compliance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil. 
 
Inventories correspond to the amount presented in line item ‘Real estate for sale’ in the balance sheet. 
 
Unrecognized cost corresponds to costs to be incurred related to the sales of uncompleted projects. 

 
As at December 31, 2016, the Company is compliant with all the contractual 
obligations involving the financial ratios required in the loan, financing and 
debentures agreements. 

 
Other contractual obligations: 
 
The Company is subject to certain contractual requirements under the loan, 
financing, and debentures agreements that must be complied throughout the 
debt period, such as: comply with the payments provided for in the 
agreements; items related to discontinuation of activities, bankruptcy or 
insolence; items related to any judicial measure that may affect the guarantees 
given in contracts; not to transfer rights on contracts without the consent of 
financial agents; obtaining the mandatory insurance of project and assets; 
guarantee completeness of data provided to financial agents; not to have 
significant changes in statutory structure; proving the allocation of funds raised 
in the projects described in the agreements; provide requested information 
within contractual deadlines; cases provided for in Articles 333 and 1425 of the 
Civil Code; do not perform operations that are not in accordance with its 
corporate purpose; comply with the statutory, legal and regulatory provisions in 
force; ensuring compliance with all laws, rules and regulations in any 
jurisdiction in which conducts businesses or have assets; not to exceed the 
ceiling of protested bills; guarantee maintenance of the ability to honor the 
guarantees provided in the agreements; keeping licenses valid for the business 
operation, among others. Failure to comply with the mentioned covenants 
could result in early maturity of the agreements.  
 
As at December 31, 2016, the Company is compliant with all the contractual 
requirements in the loans, financings and debentures agreements. 
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(f) Allocation of financial charges 
 
Financial expenses on loans, financing and debentures are capitalized in the 
cost of real estate projects according to the criterion described in note 2.2 (c). 
 

 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2016, total financial charges capitalized 
on loans, financing and debentures represented an average charge rate of 
14.43% per annum (13.65% for the year ended in December 31, 2015). 
 
 

12. Land payables 
 

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Credit purchases 1,658,945 1,019,396 2,220,424 1,520,738 
Discount to present value (7,527)      (2,770)      (10,811)    (6,771)      
Total 1,651,418 1,016,626 2,209,613 1,513,967 
Current 425,526    277,001    514,578    347,830    
Noncurrent 1,225,892 739,625    1,695,035 1,166,137 

Individual Consolidated

 
 

Present value discount for the land payments was calculated according to criteria 
described in note 2.2 (b). The discount was calculated as the difference between 
the contractual rates and the Company’s weighted funding rate. 
 
Land payables include financial barters in the amount of R$536,460 in Individual 
and R$937,491 on a consolidated basis. 

 
Acquisitions are basically adjusted using the Referential Rate (TR), the National 
Civil Construction Index (INCC) and the General Market Price Index (IGP-M). 
 
Land payables breakdown by maturity is as follows: 
 

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Periods after the reporting 
1 year 425,526    277,001    514,578    347,830    
2 years 337,765    259,663    382,470    290,075    
3 years 202,359    68,030      211,551    86,483      
4 years 133,932    69,338      145,564    74,777      
After 4 years 551,836    342,594    955,450    714,802    
Total 1,651,418 1,016,626 2,209,613 1,513,967 

Individual Consolidated

 
 

Individual Consolidated
2016 2015 2016 2015

Gross f inancial charges 267,968        302,346        307,680        335,390        
Capitalized f inancial charges (228,711)       (247,434)       (267,384)       (280,150)       
Amounts recognized in f inancial income (expenses) (Note 24) 39,257          54,912          40,296          55,240          
Financial charges allocated to real estate under construction

Opening balance 327,258        184,369        334,611        187,636        
Capitalized f inancial charges related to:

Loans and financing 43,897          50,514          81,744          83,230          
Debentures and loans 184,814        196,920        185,640        196,920        

Capitalized f inancial charges 228,711        247,434        267,384        280,150        
Charges allocated to profit or loss in cost of real estate sold 
and services provided (Note 23) (109,188)       (104,545)       (140,231)       (133,175)       

Closing balance (Note 7) 446,781        327,258        461,764        334,611        
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13. Advances from customers 

 
 

Advances from customers are broken down as follows:  
 

 
 

Advanced receivables 
 
In sales of uncompleted units, proceeds that exceed recognized sales revenue are 
recorded in line item ‘Advances from customers’, classified in current and 
noncurrent liabilities, as shown above, according to the expected construction 
schedule. These balances are denominated in local currency and are not subject 
to financial charges. 
 
Advances for barters 
 
Advances for barters refer to commitments assumed on land bank purchases for 
real estate projects and are settled during construction evolution until the unit 
delivery, according to the underlying contracts. 
 
Bank guarantees provided by the Company for land purchases, including barter 
agreements are summarized as follows: 
 

 
 

Beside bank guarantees, advances for barters are covered by property delivery 
insurance policy, as described in note 28. 

 

14. Payroll and related taxes 
 

 
  

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Advanced receivables 89,862      212,941    121,025      365,325    
Advances for barters 816,482    809,579    1,182,601   1,203,205 

906,344    1,022,520 1,303,626   1,568,530 
Current 430,668    499,273    674,864      851,717    
Noncurrent 475,676    523,247    628,762      716,813    

Individual Consolidated

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Periods after the reporting period
1 year 430,668    499,273    674,864      851,717    
2 years 274,208    308,552    371,372      435,280    
After 2 years 201,468    214,695    257,390      281,533    
Total 906,344    1,022,520 1,303,626   1,568,530 

Individual Consolidated

12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Periods after the reporting period
1 year 612,620    311,098    
2 years 24,116      24,886      

636,736    335,984    

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Salaries and w ages 10,548      8,711        16,990      15,713      
Payroll taxes 9,979        9,172        16,324      16,242      
Accrued vacation, 13th salary and related taxes 33,169      28,039      54,313      52,791      

Provision of employee and management profit sharing 16,128      15,391      16,391      15,391      
Other 3,245        2,207        6,050        9,481        
Total 73,069      63,520      110,068    109,618    

Individual Consolidated
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Employee and management profit sharing, as provided for by prevailing 
legislation, can be either under voluntary programs maintained by companies or 
agreements with employees or labor unions. 
 
 

15. Taxes payable  
 

 
 
As at December 31, 2016, amounts of recoverable taxes, essentially arising from 
tax credits claimed on the costs incurred on units sold (PIS and COFINS) and 
short-term investments are R$200,707 in Individual (R$145,504 as at December 
31, 2015), and R$229,364 on a consolidated basis (R$196,353 as at December 
31, 2015), and are classified in line item ‘Recoverable taxes’, in current assets. 
 
 

16.  Provision for maintenance of real estate 
 

 
 

The Company and its subsidiaries offer warranty for construction defects limited to 
five years, in compliance with Brazilian legislation. In order to meet this 
commitment without impacting future years and properly match revenues with 
costs, for each project under construction, amounts corresponding to 1.85% to 
2.20% of the total construction cost actually incurred were accrued as at 
December 31, 2016 (1.85% as at December 31, 2015).  This estimate is based on 
annually reviewed historical averages according to analysis by the Company's 
engineering department.  The provisions are recorded under the percentage-of-
completion method, by applying the percentage above to actual costs incurred. 
 
Changes in provision for maintenance of real estate are as follows: 
 

 
 

  

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Income tax and social contribution 5,496        9,313        11,263      15,019      
Taxes on revenue (PIS and COFINS) 15,568      13,882      21,430      18,979      
Withheld third-party taxes 4,134        4,226        15,147      13,373      
Taxes w ithheld on interest on capital 5,924        5,082        8,086        7,385        
Other 953           966           1,392        1,088        
Total 32,075      33,469      57,318      55,844      

Individual Consolidated

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Current 21,749      20,954      40,331      37,167      
Noncurrent 49,241      53,331      99,747      98,704      
Total 70,990      74,285      140,078    135,871    

Individual Consolidated

Opening Write- Closing 
balance Additions offs Transfer balance

Individual
    Current 20,954       43,954     (47,249) 4,090      21,749     
    Noncurrent 53,331       -               -            (4,090)    49,241     
    Total - FY 2016 74,285       43,954     (47,249) -             70,990     
    Total - FY 2015 68,759       45,031     (39,505) -             74,285     
Consolidated
    Current 37,167       77,151     (72,944) (1,043)    40,331     
    Noncurrent 98,704       -               -            1,043      99,747     
    Total - FY 2016 135,871     77,151     (72,944) -             140,078   
    Total - FY 2015 123,505     77,978     (65,612) -             135,871   
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17. Provision for civil, labor and tax risks 
 

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to lawsuits and administrative 
proceedings before courts and governmental bodies, arising in the normal course 
of their operations, involving civil, labor, and other matters. Therefore, recognize 
provisions in sufficient amount to cover contingent liabilities related to proceedings 
for which a probable cash disbursement is expected. 
 
Based on information from its legal counsel and the analysis of the ongoing 
proceedings and previous court and administrative decisions, the Company's 
management believes that the provision recognized for probable unfavorable 
outcomes is sufficient to cover estimated losses and to ensure that the final 
decision on each proceeding will not have a significant impact on its financial 
position. 
 
Changes in provision are as follows: 
 

Opening 

balance Additions Reversals Payments

Inflation 

adjustment

Closing 

balance

Individual
    Civil 52,011        31,153      (17,315)       (24,913)         7,037            47,973        
    Labor 18,442        23,302      (5,250)         (17,840)         2,806            21,460        
    Tax 14               417           (4)                (1)                  22                 448             
    Total - FY 2016 70,467        54,872      (22,569)       (42,754)         9,865            69,881        
    Total - FY 2015 48,327        77,038      (19,755)       (42,099)         6,956            70,467        
Consolidated
    Civil 71,940        53,772      (26,618)       (36,713)         9,803            72,184        
    Labor 19,650        28,301      (6,519)         (19,615)         3,100            24,917        
    Tax 14               507           (4)                (1)                  35                 551             
    Total - FY 2016 91,604        82,580      (33,141)       (56,329)         12,938          97,652        
    Total - FY 2015 49,048        108,824    (20,205)       (53,802)         7,739            91,604         

 
The total number of the Group’s lawsuits and the number of lawsuits classified as 
a “probable” likelihood of an unfavorable outcome classified, based on Company’s 
legal counsel’s assessment, broken down by type, are as follows: 

 

Total 

lawsuits

Probable 

lawsuits

Total 

lawsuits

Probable 

lawsuits

Nature:
Civil 16,061        4,090                     13,932        3,668                     
Labor 3,166          481                        2,417          477                        
Tax 477             14                          391             9                            
Administrative proceedings -                  -                            146             -                            
Criminal 87               -                            55               -                            
Environmental 112             -                            71               -                            
Total 19,903        4,585                     17,012        4,154                     

Total 

lawsuits

Probable 

lawsuits

Total 

lawsuits

Probable 

lawsuits

Nature:
Civil 25,256        5,620                     22,058        4,927                     
Labor 4,560          676                        3,405          536                        
Tax 523             16                          431             9                            
Administrative proceedings -                  -                            172             -                            
Criminal 95               -                            64               -                            
Environmental 158             -                            101             -                            
Total 30,592        6,312                     26,231        5,472                     

12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Individual
12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Consolidated
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As shown above the main lawsuits as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 and the 
additions for the years then ended refer to civil and labor lawsuits, basically related 
to: 
 
• Civil: actions seeking injunctions/compensation related to the delivery of the 

units, resolutions of purchase/sale agreements of units sold, and brokerage 
fees. 
 

• Labor: lawsuits claiming employment relationship, lawsuits involving former 
employees and contractors, over which the Company has joint liability. 

 
Civil, labor, tax, criminal, and environmental proceedings assessed by the legal 
counsel as possible losses, which have essentially the same nature as those 
described above, total R$144,190 in Individual and R$232,544 on a consolidated 
basis as at December 31, 2016 (R$126,863 in Individual and R$196,789 on a 
consolidated basis as at December 31, 2015). In accordance with accounting 
practices adopted in Brazil and applicable legislation, no provision was recognized 
for these contingent liabilities. 
 
In light of legal, tax, and regulatory systems’ timing and dynamics, the Company’s 
management believes that it is not practical to provide useful information to 
financial statements´ users about the timing of potential cash disbursements or 
any possibility of reimbursements. Additionally, the Company’s management 
believes that potential cash disbursements exceeding recognized provision after 
the final outcome of related lawsuits will not have a material impact on the 
Company’s results and financial position. 

 

18. Related parties 
 

(a) Short-term investments and marketable securities 
 
The Company, subsidiaries and joint ventures designated below hold 
investments in bank certificates of deposit (CDB) in Banco Intermedium S.A. 
(Intermedium), a company controlled by shareholder Rubens Menin Teixeira 
de Souza (Company owner). These investments amounts are as follows: 

 
Balances: Index 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Company 107.93% CDI 140,753        103,148        
Joint ventures:

LOG Commercial Properties e Participações S.A. 105.00% CDI 25,067          12,676          
Cabral Investimentos SPE Ltda. 108.00% CDI 9,277            13,899          

Total 175,097        129,723         
 

Total financial income for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, paid 
by Intermedium, was R$21,201 and R$22,209, respectively. 
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On July 29, 2016, joint venture LOG Commercial Properties e Participações 
S.A. completed the 9th issue of simple debentures, non-convertible, with 
unsecured guarantee, in a private placement, with total proceeds of 
R$135,000. The debentures are represented by 135 debentures with par value 
of one thousand Brazilian reais and bear interest of CDI + 2.36% p.a. with 
maturity in October 2016, later renegotiated for January 2017. On January 23, 
2017, the Debenture Holders General Meeting approved to postpone maturity 
to October 27, 2017. The debentures were fully subscribed and paid by the 
Company and are recognized in line item “Marketable securities”. Financial 
income for the year ended December 31, 2016 was R$9,037 (Nil for the year 
ended December 31, 2015).  
 

(b) Trade accounts receivables and trade accounts payable 
 

Receivables from services provided 
 

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Subsidiaries:
MRL Engenharia e Empreendimentos S.A. (i) 4                23              4                221            
Urbamais Propriedades e Participações S.A. (i) 43              29              -                 -                 
MRV Construções Ltda (ii) -                 -                 1,533         3,727         

Other related parties:
Expar Êxito Participações Ltda. (iii) 2                19              2                19              
Banco Intermedium S.A. (iv) 43              -                 43              -                 

    Partners in real estate development projects 91              113            91              142            
Total 183            184            1,673         4,109         

Individual Consolidated

 
 

(i) The Company provides administrative services to subsidiary Urbamais 
Propriedades e Participações S.A. and the joint ventures LOG 
Commercial Properties e Participações S.A. (LOG), MRL Engenharia e 
Empreendimentos S.A. (MRL), and Prime Incorporações e Construções 
S.A. (PRIME). The service agreement with LOG provides for the 
monthly payment of R$4.1 per project developed by LOG or its 
investees in 2016 (R$4.5 in 2015). The agreement is effective for three 
years, beginning December 02, 2013, automatically extendable for an 
equal period, if not apposed by any of the parties. Revenue from 
administrative services rendered to MRL and PRIME is calculated on a 
monthly basis based on the fixed amount (annually adjusted) of each 
transaction, multiplied by the number of transactions performed for these 
companies. 

 
(ii) Refers to construction services provided to jointly controlled entities. The 

transactions in the year ended December 31, 2016 total R$7,644 on a 
consolidated basis (R$43,162 in the year ended December 31, 2015) 
and were recognized in line item ‘Revenue from construction services’ 
(note 22). 

 
(iii) Expar Exito Participaçoes Ltda. is controlled by the Company 

shareholders Marcos Alberto Cabaleiro Fernandez and Rubens Menin 
Teixeira de Souza, but is not part of the Group. The Company provides 
building services to this related party and revenue from services 
rendered is equivalent to 15% of incurred cost on the construction 
project. 
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(iv) Refer to 0.15% on invoices of the Company´ suppliers discounted in the 
bank. 
 

In the year ended December 31, 2016, revenue from services provided to the 
companies described in (i), (iii) and (iv) total R$3,767 in Individual and 
R$3,947 on a consolidated basis (R$4,044 in Individual and in a consolidated 
basis in the year ended December 31, 2015) and are recognized in line item 
‘Other operating income’. 
 
Trade and other accounts payable 

 

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Trade payables

Subsidiaries:
MRV Construções Ltda. (i) 37,032      50,753      -               -               

Other related parties:
MRV Serviços de Engenharia Ltda. (ii) -               9,366        -               9,366        

Total 37,032      60,119      -               9,366        
Land payables

Joint venture:
    Cabral Investimentos SPE Ltda.(iii) -               4,568        -               4,568        

Total -               4,568        -               4,568        
Payables for the acquisition of investment

Joint venture:
    LOG Commercial Properties e Participações S.A. (iv) 4,768        5,062        4,768        5,062        

Total 4,768        5,062        4,768        5,062        

Individual Consolidated

 
 

(i) Refers to amounts payable for construction services provided to the 
Company. In the year ended December 31, 2016, these transactions 
amount to R$179,709 in Individual and R$325,206 for the Company 
and subsidiaries (R$281,043 in Individual and R$488,966 for the 
Company and subsidiaries in in the year ended December 31, 2015), 
both eliminated in consolidation process. 

 
(ii) Refers to the acquisition of the use and property rights of the 

trademark “MRV Engenharia”, as explained in (f) of this note below. 
 

(iii) In August 2015, the Company acquired a plot of land from joint venture 
Cabral Investimentos SPE Ltda. in the amount of R$7,500, paid on 
down payment by R$750 and 12 monthly installments of R$563, 
adjusted using the INCC (National Construction Cost Index). 
Outstanding balance was settled in August 2016 (balance of R$4,568 
as at December 31, 2015).  

 
(iv) In March 2015 the Company acquired a stake in MRV LOG SP I 

Incorporações SPE Ltda. (“Office Park Pirituba”) from jointly controlled 
entities LOG Commercial Properties e Participações S.A. and LDI LOG 
Desenvolvimento Imobiliário Ltda. for R$110,000, payable through 
September 2017, including R$11,000 paid as down payment and 30 
monthly installments of R$3,300, adjusted using the IPCA (National 
Broad Consumer Price Index). Due to the fact that the amount payable 
is adjusted only using the IPCA, the Company discounted it to present 
value at the effective interest rate of 4.8% per annum totaling R$5,802, 
R$2,886 as at December 31, 2016.  
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On November 25, 2015, LOG transferred the receivable balance to 
HSBC Bank Brasil S.A. (HSBC) amounting to R$75,892 referring to the 
23 monthly installments remaining of this operation on that date. 
According to said assignment contract, the Company retains the 
obligation to pay LOG the amounts related to the IPCA adjustment 
(since March 2015), which as at December 31, 2016 correspond to 
R$4,768 (R$5,062 as at December 31, 2015) and will be paid in 
monthly installments through October 2017. Accordingly, liability 
balances as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 were recognized in line 
item ‘Payables for the acquisition of investment’ and are broken down 
as follows: 
 

12/31/2015

HSBC LOG

Discount to 

present 

value Total Total
Current        33,000        4,768 (2,886)                 34,882        40,022 
Noncurrent  -  -  -  -        32,416 
Total        33,000        4,768 (2,886)                 34,882        72,438 

Individual e Consolidated
12/31/2016

 
 

(c) Intercompany loan balances 
 

 
 

(i) No maturities have been defined for these transactions and as at 
December 31, 2016, R$6,195 in Individual and on a consolidated basis 
(R$45,747 in Individual and R$51,946 on a consolidated basis as at 
December 31, 2015) are subject to interest pegged to interbank 
deposit rate (CDI) plus a spread of 0% to 2.36% p.a. for 2016 in 
Individual and on a consolidated basis (same rates for 2015). 
 
Intercompany receivables from joint ventures and partners refer mainly 
to transactions conducted to fund the initial stage of projects in view of 
the business relationships with these parties for the development of 
real estate construction operations. 
 
Financial income from related parties for the years ended December 
31, 2016 and 2015 is broken down as follows: 

 

 

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Intercompany receivables (i)
Joint ventures:

Prime Incorporação e Construções S.A. 529           32,520      587           37,520      
MRL Engenharia e Empreendimentos S.A. -               1,305        33             10,893      

Other related parties:
Partners in real estate development projects 34,003      37,617      36,023      39,974      

Total 34,532      71,442      36,643      88,387      

Intercompany payables (ii)
Loans w ith SPEs 12,374      61,124      1,310        3,915        

Individual Consolidated

2016 2015 2016 2015
Subsidiaries:

Urbamais Propriedades e Participações S.A. 212        -        -              -         
Joint ventures:

Prime Incorporação e Construções S.A. 3,950     2,991     4,093          3,733     
MRL Engenharia e Empreendimentos S.A. 809        1,386     818             1,753     

Other related parties:
Partners in real estate development projects 1,895     2,304     2,107          2,692     

Total (note 24) 6,866     6,681     7,018          8,178     

Individual Consolidated
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(ii) No maturities have been defined for these transactions and are 

recognized in line item ‘Other accounts payable’, in current liabilities. 
 

In addition to the amounts above, the Company has receivables from 
subsidiaries and partners in real estate development projects related to capital 
contributions and advances to be made, recognized in line item ‘Other current 
assets’, as shown below: 
 

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Subsidiaries:
Prime Incorporação e Construções S.A. 344            767            1,215         863            
MRL Engenharia e Empreendimentos S.A. 1,630         28              2,734         138            
MDI Desenvolvimento Imobiliário Ltda. -                 40              -                 40              
Silent partnerships and special purpose entities 471            588            1,393         4,685         

Other related parties:
Partners in real estate development projects 788            238            2,129         791            

Total 3,233         1,661         7,471         6,517         

Individual Consolidated

 
 

Receivables from subsidiaries and partners for capital contributions do not 
bear interest and are receivable immediately upon the Company request. 
 
As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 no allowance for doubtful debts was 
recognized for receivables from related parties as no losses on these 
transactions are expected. 
 
Related-party transactions are conducted with subsidiaries and partners in 
real estate projects under terms and conditions negotiated by the parties. As 
the Company does not conduct similar transactions with unrelated parties, 
there is no evidence that these transactions would produce the same results 
had they been conducted with unrelated parties. 
 

(d) Rental agreements 
 
In March 2015, the Company and subsidiary Urbamais Properties e   
Participações S.A. entered into rental agreements of head office building, 
owned by the companies Conedi Participações Ltda. (“Conedi”) and MA 
Cabaleiro Participações Ltda. (“MA Cabaleiro”). Conedi is owned by the 
Company’s controlling shareholder Rubens Menin Teixeira de Souza and the 
following executives: Maria Fernanda Menin Teixeira de Souza Maia (Legal 
Executive Officer) and Rafael Menin Teixeira de Souza (Region I Managing 
Director and board member). MA Cabaleiro is owned by shareholder Marcos 
Alberto Cabaleiro Fernandez, member of the Company's board. Rental 
agreements are effective until February 28, 2025, adjustable by the General 
Market Price Index (IGPM) and as at December 31, 2016 provides for monthly 
payment of R$509 (R$437 as at December 31, 2015). Related rental expenses 
for the year ended December 31, 2016, recognized in profit or loss, totaled 
R$5,373 (R$4,463 for the year ended December 31, 2015). On October 28, 
2016, the agreement was amended adding a plot of land where the 
employees´ social center was constructed. Total construction cost paid by the 
Company amount to R$961, recognized in line item “Property and Equipment” 
and will be depreciated through the remaining agreement term. 
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In April 2015, joint venture LOG Commercial Properties e Participações S.A. 
entered into rental agreement of part of tenth floor of head office building, 
owned by the companies mentioned above. The agreement are effective until 
February 28, 2025, adjustable by the General Market Price Index (IGPM) 
and as at December 31, 2016 provides for the monthly payment of R$37 
(R$34 as at December 31, 2015). Related rental expenses for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 recognized in LOG´s results, totaled R$432 (R$302 for the 
year ended December 31, 2015). 

 
The Company rented some floors in building MA Cabaleiro owned by Company 
shareholder Marcos Alberto Cabaleiro Fernandez, cancelled in June 2016. The 
rental expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015 totaled R$484 (nil for 
the year ended December 31, 2016) 
 

(e) Noncompetition agreement 
 
Company shareholders Marcos Alberto Cabaleiro Fernandez and Rubens 
Menin Teixeira de Souza entered into a noncompetition agreement with the 
Company, under which they agree not to engage in any activity in Brazil, in the 
construction industry outside the Company for up to a two-year period after a 
possible withdrawal as shareholders. Their activities in the industry are, 
therefore, restricted to the Company. 
 

(f) Brand license 
 
In August 2014 the Company’s management acquired from MRV Serviços e 
Engenharia Ltda. the use and property rights of the trademark “MRV 
Engenharia” for an indefinite period. The total agreement amount, supported 
by economic studies, is R$24,000 paid in 24 monthly installments of R$1,000, 
adjusted by the SELIC (Central Bank’s policy rate). Outstanding balance was 
settled in August 2016 (balance of R$9,366 as at December 31, 2015) and 
was recognized in line item ‘Trade accounts receivable’ and the incurred 
interest recognized in Company´s results amounts to R$399 in the year ended 
December 31, 2016 (R$2.521 in the year ended December 31, 2015).  
 

(g) Guarantees, warranties and surety 
 
The Company guaranteed bank credit notes obtained by jointly controlled 
entities from financial institutions, as described below: 
 

 

Guarantees, w arranty and surety
Start Maturity Amount

MRL Engenharia e Empreendimentos S.A. 9/09/2016 9/10/2018 20,185
9/23/2016 9/10/2018 30,277
10/10/2014 10/10/2017 7,561
9/30/2015 9/28/2018 24,028
12/22/2016 1/27/2017 10,011
12/21/2015 6/5/2018 85,753

Prime Incorporações e Construções S.A. 10/3/2016 1/6/2017 163,516
7/26/2016 7/15/2019 759
7/8/2016 5/15/2019 841
6/20/2016 6/20/2017 20,090
5/13/2016 4/15/2019 521
3/29/2016 3/23/2018 68,661
2/26/2014 2/5/2017 13,451
10/10/2014 10/10/2017 15,115
9/30/2015 9/28/2018 34,041

Urbamais Properties e Participações S.A. 3/18/2016 3/6/2023 12,269
12/29/2016 12/27/2019 25,028

532,107
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(h) Compensation of key personnel 

 
Pursuant to CPC 05, which addresses related party disclosures, and according 
to the Company’s understanding, key management personnel consists of 
members of the Board of Directors and officers elected by the Board of 
Directors in conformity with the Company’s bylaws, and their roles and 
responsibilities comprise decision-making powers and control of the 
Company’s activities. 

 
Individual Consolidated

2016 2015 2016 2015
Short-term benef its granted to management:

Management compensation (*) 10,357          9,766         10,949       10,262       
Prof it sharing 4,875            5,881         5,126         5,881         
Non-monetary benef its 291               250            291            250            

Share-based compensation:
Stock option plan 2,682            2,345         2,682         2,345         

18,205          18,242       19,048       18,738       
 

 

(*) Not included social security contributions at the rate of 20%. 

 
On April 29, 2016, the Extraordinary and Annual Shareholders' Meeting 
approved the change in the overall management compensation threshold to 
R$24,000. 
 
Besides the benefits above, the Company does not grant any other benefits 
such as postemployment benefits, other long-term benefits, or severance pay. 

 
(i) Largest shareholder 

 
As at December 31, 2016, the Company’s largest shareholder is Mr. Rubens 
Menin Teixeira de Souza, who holds 35.3% of the Company’s shares (35.6% 
as at December 31, 2015). 
 

(j) Stake acquisition 
 

In August 2016, the Company acquired stake of Interfronting Corretora e 
Consultoria de seguros Ltda. (Interfronting), controlled by Banco Intermedium, 
in the amount of R$123, equivalent to 10% of the company's shares. 
Interfronting provides insurance brokerage services in various market 
segments. The amount of insurance premiums paid by the Company for 
insurers in which Interfronting obtained brokerage commission in the year 
ended December 31, 2016, was R$7,637 (R$4,849 in the year ended 
December 31, 2015). 
 

 

19. Shareholders’ equity 
 

(a) Issued capital 

 
 

  

12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Subscribed capital 4,509,521    4,059,521     
Number of common shares, w ithout par value 444,139       444,139        

Individual e Consolidated
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Under Article 5, paragraph 6, of the Company's Bylaws, shareholders are 
entitled to preemptive rights to the subscription of Company shares, convertible 
debentures or share warrants, proportionally to the related interest held, which 
can be exercised within thirty (30) days. 

 
Each share entitles its holder to one vote in annual and extraordinary 
shareholders meetings.  Under the Bylaws and the Novo Mercado Listing 
Agreement, the Company cannot issue nonvoting shares or restricted shares, 
or founder shares. 

 
Under the Company's Bylaws article 6, capital can be increased by means of a 
resolution of the Board of Directors, regardless of amendments to the bylaws, 
up to the limit of R$5,000,000 (Five billion reais), including shares already 
issued, without maintaining proportion between the existing shares. The 
Company may issue common shares, debentures convertible into common 
shares, and share warrants within this limit.  Any capital increase exceeding 
the authorized capital limit must be approved by the shareholders at 
shareholders' meeting. Each common share is undividable and entitles its 
holder to one vote in decisions of the shareholders’ meetings. 

 

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Shareholders’ 
Meeting (SM), approved the following capital increases: 
 

 
 

(b) Stock option plan 
 
The stock option plan correspond to 5% of the Company´s total shares, limited 
to 22,207 thousand stock options at December 31, 2016 (same amount as at 
December 31, 2015). 
 
The strike price of the stock option plan will be equivalent to the book value of 
each share determined by the Board of Directors at the time each program is 
discussed and approved. 
 

The Company’s officers and employees, including of direct and indirect 
subsidiaries, may be eligible for the plan. Should the employment contract or 
term of office of the employee or officer terminate due to: respectively, (a) 
quitting or resignation; or (b) dismissal (with or without just cause) or removal 
from office (with or without fair reason), providing the definition of cause in the 
Brazilian labor law, as applicable, is observed, the options whose exercise 
right: (i) had not been vested until such date will be cancelled; and (ii) had 
already been vested by such date, may be exercised within ninety day of the 
date of the termination of said employment agreement or mandate, by means 
of a written notice sent to the Chairman of the Company’s Board and, after this 
period, they will be cancelled. 
 

  

Capital Total
Total after outstanding 

Number Unit capital capital shares after 
Date of approval of shares price increase increase issuance

Year ended December 31, 2016: (thousand) R$ R$’000 R$’000 (thousand)
04/29/2016  Capitalization of earning retention reserve - - 450,000 4,509,521 444,139

Year ended December 31, 2015
04/30/2015  Capitalization of earning retention reserve - - 552,315 4,059,521 449,139
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In case of death or permanent disability of the beneficiary, his or her 
successors shall have the right to exercise any unexercised stock options, 
regardless of the share sale restrictions periods set out in the Plan and even if 
such stock options are unvested, immediately and during the exercise period 
set out in the related program, where the number of shares to which the 
beneficiary’s successors are entitled will be calculated on a prorated basis, 
according to the plan. 
 

Main features of the stock option plan programs are as follows: 
 

Program Approval

Stock 

options 

(thou,) Vesting

Option 

price Participants Exercise deadline

3 3/8/2010 1,701 Up to 4 years R$ 11.80 Off icers, managers, and key employees April/2018
4 6/11/2012 1,945 Up to 4 years R$ 11.56 Off icers, managers, and key employees August/2019
5 8/20/2013 1,522 Up to 4 years R$ 5.91 Off icers, managers, and key employees December/2020
6 10/14/2014 1,512 Up to 4 years R$ 6.50 Off icers, managers, and key employees December/2021
7 6/1/2015 1,444 Up to 4 years R$ 6.84 Off icers, managers, and key employees December/2022
8 7/1/2016 1,529 Up to 4 years R$ 10.42 Off icers, managers, and key employees December/2023

 
 
* Each stock option is equivalent to three (3) shares. 
 
 

Tables below show the changes in stock options plan per program for the 
years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 and supplemental information 
thereon: 

 

Number of Opening Expired/ Closing 

Program participants  balance Granted  forfeited Exercised  balance

3 102 1,274            -                      (51)                 (45)             1,178           
4 140 1,603            -                      (50)                 (60)             1,493           
5 55 1,408            -                      (8)                   (72)             1,328           
6 88 1,466            -                      (12)                 (33)             1,421           
7 77 1,425            -                      (4)                   (18)             1,403           
8 64 -                   1,529              (5)                   -                 1,524           

7,176            1,529              (130)               (228)           8,347           

8.52              10.42              10.63              8.71            8.83             

Number of Opening Expired/ Closing 

Program participants  balance Granted  forfeited Exercised  balance

3 118 1,399            - (125)               - 1,274           
4 165 1,785            - (182)               - 1,603           
5 56 1,495            - (79)                 (8)               1,408           
6 91 1,509            - (39)                 (4)               1,466           
7 78 -                   1,444              (18)                 (1)               1,425           

6,188            1,444              (443)               (13)             7,176           

9.01              6.84                9.98                6.15            8.52             

Movements in 2016 (thousand shares)

Weighted average price of shares

Movements in 2015 (thousand shares)

Weighted average price of shares
 

Program

Number of 

vested 

shares (thou.)

Compensation 

cost for the 

year

Unrecognized 

compensation 

cost 

Remaining 

compensation cost 

period (in years)

Remaining 

contractual life 

(in years)

3 1,178 - - - 1.4
4 1,493 857 - - 2.7
5 222 1,039 886 0.9 3.9
6 180 1,187 2,055 2.0 5.0
7 146 1,100 2,593 3.0 6.0
8 88 1,123 4,954 4.0 7.0

2016 3,307 5,306 10,488 3.1 4.5
2015 1,948 4,965 9,717 3.0 4.5

Other information
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Compensation costs arising from joint ventures and recognized by the 
Company totaled R$121 for the year ended December 31, 2016 (R$138 for the 
year ended December 31, 2015). 
 
As at December 31, 2016, had all options currently granted been exercised, the 
Company would have issued 8,347 thousand shares, which would represent a 
1.84% dilution in relation to total Company shares of 444,139 thousand. 
 
The weighted average market price of exercised shares, considering each 
exercise date, during the year ended December 31, 2016, was R$11.83 
(R$8.56 during the year ended December 31, 2015). 
 
Under Article 171, Par. 3, of the Brazilian Corporate Law, the Company’s 
shareholders do not have preemptive rights on the exercise of stock options. 
 
Up to December 31, 2016, 88.32% of the total stock options approved under the 
plan had been granted (81.43% up to December 31, 2015) 
 
In the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company received R$1,065 
(R$3,248 in 2015) in proceeds related to 112 thousand stock options exercised 
(328 thousand in 2015), and were delivered 112 thousand common shares (966 
thousand in 2015) held in treasury, as explained in (c) below. 
 
The Company records share-based compensation of the participants in the 
financial statements based on its fair value.  The fair values of the stock option 
programs were estimated based on the Black & Scholes stock option pricing 
model, considering the following weighed average assumptions: 

 

3 4 5 6 7 8
Strike price R$ 11.80 R$ 11.56 R$ 5.91 R$ 6.50 R$ 6.84 R$ 10.42
Risk-free rate 12.79% 9.57% 11.80% 11.34% 12.60% 11.04%
Exercise period in years 8 7 7 7 7 7
Expected annualized volatility 50.11% 64.26% 61.12% 58.67% 56.84% 55.14%
Expected dividends 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5%
Stock options fair value on grant date per share R$ 5.25 R$ 4.17 R$ 4.22 R$ 4.00 R$ 3.56 R$ 4.97

Program

 
 

(c) Treasury shares 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2016, 112 thousand shares were 
transferred to beneficiaries of the Company’s Stock Option Plan (966 
thousand during year ended December 31, 2015) 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2015 the Board of Directors approved: (i) 
the cancellation of 5,000 thousand treasury shares; (ii) a 365-day share 
buyback program, beginning June 3, 2015, limited to 12,000 thousand shares 
of the Company's total shares, without a capital reduction, through the use of 
funds from the available earnings or capital reserve, aimed at maximizing the 
creation of shareholder value. 
 
In 2015, 5,623 thousand shares were bought back at the cost of R$39,032, at 
the average price of R$6.95, and 966 thousand shares were transferred to 
beneficiaries of the Company’s stock option plan as shown below: 
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(*) Market value of shares remaining in treasury as at December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2016, R$253 were transferred from line 
item ‘Treasury shares’ to line item ‘Earnings retention reserve’ related to 
transfers to stock option plan beneficiaries. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, R$40,120 were transferred from 
line item ‘Treasury shares’ to line item ‘Earnings retention reserve’ related to: 
(i) the cancellation of shares amounting to R$36,283; and (ii) transfers to 
beneficiaries of stock option plans amounting to R$3,837. 
 

(d) Mandatory minimum dividend payable to shareholders 
 
Under the Company's Bylaws and the Brazilian Corporate Law, shareholders 
are entitled to receive dividends and other distributions related to the Company 
shares, proportionally to their interests in capital. 
 
Shareholders are entitled to an annual mandatory minimum dividend of no less 
than 25% of profit, which can be decreased or increased by the following 
amounts: (i) amount to be allocated to the legal reserve; (ii) amount to be 
allocated to the recognition of a provision for contingencies and reversal of this 
provision recognized in prior years; and (iii) amount derived from the reversal 
of prior years’ unrealized earnings reserve, pursuant to Article 202, II, of 
Corporate Law. 
 
According to the Company’s management’s proposal, to be approved at the 
Annual Shareholders' Meeting (ASM), 2016 dividends are as follows (2015 
dividends are presented for comparative purposes): 

 

 
 

On November 09, 2016, the Board of Directors proposed an extraordinary 
intermediate dividend in the amount of R$150,000. As mentioned in note 29, 
this proposal was approved by the Extraordinary Shareholder’s Meeting on 
January 30, 2017.   

Opening Closing Weighted Market

Type balance Acquired Transferred Cancelled  balance average Maximu Minimu value (*)

Common in 2016         2,980                   -                (112)                   -      2,868                    -             -               -         31,376 

Common in 2015         3,323           5,623                (966)          (5,000)      2,980 6.95             7.20      6.71        25,866        

Number (thousand)

Cost in reais (per share)

of the acquired shares

2016 2015

Net income 557,114       547,581        
Legal reserve - 5% of net income         (27,856)          (27,379)
Net income available for distribution 529,258               520,202 

Proposed dividends:
   - Mandatory minimum dividends - 25% of net income 
            available for distribution         132,315         130,051 
   - Additional proposed  - 5% of net income 
            available for distribution in 2015                  -             26,010 
   - Intermediate extraordinary         150,000                   -   
Total         282,315         156,061 

Number of common shares at end of reporting period (less 
treasury shares) (thou.) 441,271       441,159        

Proposed dividends per share: 
   - Mandatory minimum dividends - R$ 0.2998         0.2948          
   - Additional proposed dividends - R$ -               0.0590          
   - Intermediate extraordinary - R$ 0.3399         -               
   - Total - R$ 0.6398         0.3538          
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The 2015 dividends, totaling R$156,061, were approved at the Annual and 
Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting  held on April 29, 2016 and were paid on 
June 15, 2016, equivalent to R$0.35375102 per share, without inflation 
adjustment, as per the shareholding position on May 16, 2016. 
 

(e) Legal reserve 
 
As at December 31, 2016, the Company recognized legal reserve in the 
amount of R$27,856 (R$27,379 as at December 31, 2015) equivalent to 5% of 
annual net income, as prescribed by Article 193 of the Brazilian Corporate 
Law. 

 
(f) Earnings retention reserve 

 
As at December 31, 2016, management proposed for approval at a 
Shareholders’ Meeting, the allocation of remaining balance of retained 
earnings, totaling R$399,777, to the earnings retention reserve.  This reserve 
is intended to meet the funding requirements for future investments, mainly to 
meet working capital requirements, land purchases, investments in property 
and equipment and intangible assets, and payment of interest according to the 
capital budget to be submitted to and approved by the Annual Shareholders' 
Meeting. The Annual and Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 
29, 2016 approved the allocation of the remaining net income of year 2015, 
amounting to R$364,898, to this reserve. 
 

(g) Noncontrolling interests 
 

2016 2015
Opening balance 274,259       284,910        
Net distributions to noncontrolling interests (34,411)        (57,830)        
Capital transactions (3,380)          (594)             
Interest in net income 17,290         47,773          
Closing balance         253,758         274,259 

Consolidated

 
 

In the year ended December 31, 2016, changes in the Company’s equity 
interests in subsidiaries generated a decrease in noncontrolling interests of 
R$3,380 (R$594 decrease in the year ended December 31, 2015) and a net 
gain of R$546 (R$163 in 2015) for the Company owners, directly recorded in 
shareholders’ equity. 
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20. Earnings per share 
 

The table below shows net income data and the number of shares used to 
calculate basic and diluted earnings per share:  
 

 

 

21. Segment information 

The Company’s management defined the operating segments based on the 
reports used by the Board of Directors in its strategic decision-making. Three 
operating segments were identified, which are separately managed, as follows: 
 

i. Real estate development (Residential):  division engaged in the 
development, construction, and sale of own and third-party real estate. 
Project development and construction are carried out directly by the 
Company or its subsidiaries, or through its silent partnerships and the 
special purpose entities established together with its partners;  

ii. Investment property (LOG):  division engaged in the construction and 
rental of industrial warehouses and to a smaller extent rental of retail 
space (shopping center and strip mall) and office; and 

iii. Urban land subdivisions (Urbamais): division responsible for the 
development and sale of residential and commercial urban land 
subdivisions. 

 
The real estate development segment does not include projects that meet all the 
materiality criteria described in CPC 22; therefore, it is not necessary to support 
information thereon.  
 
Investment property segment, represented by joint venture LOG, is an 
independent segment. The consolidated financial statements present only the 
investment balance and the results from equity participation for this joint venture, 
which are disclosed in note 8. Management decided to disclose the following 
information: 

 

Individual e Consolidated
2016 2015

Basic earnings per share:
Net income for the period 557,114        547,581        
Weighted average number of outstanding common shares (thousand) 441,196        441,643        
Basic earnings per share - in R$ 1.26274        1.23987        

Diluted earnings per share:
Net income for the period 557,114        547,581        
Weighted average number of outstanding common shares (thousand) 441,196        441,643        
Dilutive effect of stock options (thousands of shares) 1,843            642               

Total shares after dilutive effect (thousand) 443,039        442,285        
Diluted earnings per share - in R$ 1.25748        1.23807        
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Balance sheet: 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

ASSETS
Current 185,738        49,425          
Noncurrent

Investment 247,220        237,314        
Investment property 2,298,800     2,174,413     
Other noncurrent assets 150,340        114,366        

Total noncurrent assets 2,696,360     2,526,093     
Total assets 2,882,098     2,575,518     
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities

     Loans, f inancing and debentures 337,250        150,579        
     Other current liabilities 20,380          18,400          

Total current liabilities 357,630        168,979        
Noncurrent liabilities

     Loans, f inancing and debentures 651,834        814,379        
     Other noncurrent liabilities 98,350          96,287          

Total noncurrent liabilities 750,184        910,666        
Total liabilities 1,107,814     1,079,645     
 Equity 1,774,284     1,495,873     
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 2,882,098     2,575,518     

Consolidated LOG (*)

 
 

Consolidated LOG (*)
2016 2015

Income statement:
Net operating revenue 96,774          92,911          
Gross profit 96,774          92,911          
Operating income (expenses)
     Changes in the fair value of investment property (24,477)         (30,997)         
     Results from equity participation 3,186            4,439            
     Other operating expenses (21,032)         (22,008)         
Operating prof it before financial income (expenses) 54,451          44,345          
Financial income (expenses) (51,555)         (43,489)         
Income before income tax and social contribution 2,896            856               
Income tax and social contribution 32,760          16,335          
Net income 35,656          17,191          

 
 

(*) Joint venture’s full consolidated balances. 
 

The urban land subdivision segment, represented by subsidiary Urbamais, does 
not meet the materiality criteria prescribed by CPC 22 and, therefore, it is not 
necessary to disclose information on this segment. 

 

22. Net operating revenue 
 
The table below shows reconciliation between gross and net revenue stated in the 
income statement for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015: 
 

2016 2015 2016 2015
Gross operating revenue 

Real estate development 2,356,522     2,742,200     4,224,788     4,696,622     
Bartered real estate units 47,038          78,141          113,441        148,625        
Revenue from construction services -                    -                    7,644            43,162          

2,403,560     2,820,341     4,345,873     4,888,409     
Taxes on sales (54,448)         (78,772)         (96,824)         (125,371)       
Net operating revenue 2,349,112     2,741,569     4,249,049     4,763,038     

ConsolidatedIndividual

 
 
Revenue from bartered real estate units are recorded by the percentage-of-
completion method until the delivery of the completed real estate units 
corresponding to the bartered units, pursuant to the agreement.  
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The real estate development contracts bear interests described in note 6 and 
financial income is recognized in profit or loss for the year as operating revenue 
during the period before delivery of units and as financial income during the period 
after delivery of units. 
 
Amounts related to units under construction recognized in consolidated for the 
year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows: 
 

 
 

The accounting revenue recognition criteria and policies are described in note 2.2 
(a). 
 
Additionally, in order to determine when the risks and rewards from the ownership 
of the real estate units sold are transferred to customers, the Company follows the 
technical guideline OCPC 04. This determination requires significant judgment 
and, in the context of this judgment, management assessed all discussions on this 
matter that resulted in OCPC 04 issue by CPC, which guided the application of 
Technical Interpretation ICPC 02 by Brazilian real estate developers. 
 
The accounting treatment of sale contracts cancellation is described in note 6. 

 

23. Costs and expenses  
 

 
 

2016 2015
Net revenue from units under construction 3,868,164     4,763,038     
Costs of real estate sold under construction (2,497,363)    (3,324,401)    
Recognized profits 1,370,801     1,438,637     
Advances received or from barters 252,227        377,643        

Consolidated

Individual Consolidated
2016 2015 2016 2015

Cost of real estate sold and services:
Financial charges (Note 11 (e)) (109,188)       (104,545)       (140,231)       (133,175)       
Land, construction and maintenance costs (1,490,290)    (1,793,145)    (2,722,039)    (3,191,226)    

Total cost of real estate sold and services (1,599,478)    (1,897,690)    (2,862,270)    (3,324,401)    
Selling, general and administrative expenses:

Salaries, charges and benefits (206,946)       (220,709)       (256,034)       (265,588)       
Management compensation (11,132)         (9,179)           (11,792)         (9,675)           
Management and employees profit sharing (19,299)         (15,944)         (19,348)         (15,974)         
Stock option plan expenses (5,306)           (4,965)           (5,306)           (4,965)           
Commissions and brokers’ fees (53,528)         (51,338)         (105,789)       (95,814)         
Outside services (52,341)         (41,087)         (72,113)         (58,987)         
Marketing expenses (79,286)         (65,813)         (125,749)       (104,475)       
Utilities (12,809)         (13,851)         (15,152)         (15,595)         
Depreciation and amortization (26,008)         (26,940)         (32,526)         (33,402)         
Training (1,517)           (959)              (1,530)           (959)              
Other expenses (113,366)       (106,243)       (140,892)       (131,780)       

Total selling, general and administrative expenses (581,538)       (557,028)       (786,231)       (737,214)       

Classif ied as:
Selling expenses (316,534)       (295,686)       (498,741)       (457,636)       
General and administrative expenses (265,004)       (261,342)       (287,490)       (279,578)       

(581,538)       (557,028)       (786,231)       (737,214)       
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24. Financial expenses and income 
 

 
 

25. Financial instruments and risk management 
 

(a) Capital risk management 
 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that all group companies can 
continue as going concerns, and at the same time maximizes the return of all 
their stakeholders by optimizing the balance debt and shareholders’ equity. 
 
The Group’s equity structure consists of net debts (debt broken down in note 
11, less cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities, broken down in 
notes 4 and 5) and the Group’s shareholders’ equity. 
 
The Directors periodically review the Company's equity structure.  As part of 
this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital, asset liquidity, the risks 
associated to each class of equity, and the Group’s debt-to-equity ratio. 
 
Management’s objective is to keep debt ratios in line with the requirements of 
its loan, financing and debenture agreements. As at December 31, 2016 and 
2015, the consolidated debt-to-equity ratio is as follows: 
 

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Loans, f inancing and debentures 1,835,781     2,021,906     2,313,640     2,249,651     
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities (1,501,204)    (1,384,485)    (2,021,071)    (1,724,224)    
Net debt 334,577        637,421        292,569        525,427        
Shareholders' equity 5,183,729     4,775,614     5,437,487     5,049,873     
Net debt-to-equity ratio 6.5% 13.3% 5.4% 10.4%

Individual Consolidated

 
 

Individual Consolidated
2016 2015 2016 2015

Other operating expenses, net:
Provision for civil, labor and tax risks (13,317)         (34,035)         (35,455)         (57,511)         
Real estate credit (33,957)         (31,165)         (41,880)         (39,346)         
Results on the sale of property and equipment (1,241)           (3,448)           (1,344)           (5,322)           
Donatives - Institute MRV (3,266)           (543)              (3,266)           (543)              
Other:

Income 4,232            5,619            6,937            7,250            
Expenses (9,428)           (7,311)           (13,424)         (11,784)         

Total other operating expenses, net (56,977)         (70,883)         (88,432)         (107,256)       

2016 2015 2016 2015
Financial expenses:
Interest expenses on loans, f inancing and debentures (Note 11(f)) (39,257)         (54,912)         (40,296)     (55,240)     
Expenses on debentures issue commissions and fees (837)              (1,255)           (837)          (1,255)       
Expenses on fees and taxes (5,211)           (5,269)           (9,440)       (9,031)       
Other f inancial expenses (10,604)         (10,887)         (12,061)     (12,159)     

(55,909)         (72,323)         (62,634)     (77,685)     
Financial income: 
Income from short-term investments 172,069        131,988        202,843     164,646     
Interest income on intercompany loans (Note 18(c)) 6,866            6,681            7,018         8,178         
Other f inancial income 9,602            14,431          18,173       23,287       

188,537        153,100        228,034     196,111     
Income from real estate development receivables 33,621          54,908          48,248       81,835       

222,158        208,008        276,282     277,946     
Financial income (expenses) 166,249        135,685        213,648     200,261     

Individual Consolidated
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The Group is not subject to any external debt requirements, except for the 
contractual obligations described in note 11. 

 
(b) Financial instruments categories 
 

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Financial assets:
Cash and banks 220,484        199,548        394,135        347,746        
Fair value through profit or loss held for trading (*) 1,025,430     1,056,527     1,369,417     1,248,068     
Held-to-maturity investments 153,482        9,601            155,711        9,601            
Available-for-sale f inancial assets (*) 101,808        118,809        101,808        118,809        
Loans and receivables 1,613,406     2,025,921     2,690,070     3,367,454     
Financial liabilities:
Amortized cost 3,797,688     3,386,145     4,949,829     4,141,499     

Individual Consolidated

 

 

(*) Financial assets recognized in the financial statements at fair value with level 2 measurement 
 
It is not a Company policy to enter into derivative transactions or any other 
assets for speculative purposes.  
 
In July 2016, the Company entered into a non-speculative derivative financial 
instrument to hedge its exposure to the interest rates in financing construction 
pegged to the Referential Rate (TR) variance plus fixed spread. The sole 
purpose of these transactions is value hedging by minimizing the impacts of 
changes in interest rates, by replacing the TR plus fixed rate for the interbank 
deposit rate (CDI). 
 
As of December 31, 2016, outstanding swaps contracts have maturities 
between June 2018 and March 2023, and are broken down as follows: 
 

12/31/2016
Gain or 

Type of Notional Long Short loss on Mark-to- Derivative

transaction Asset/Liability Maturity amount position position transaction market fair value 
Sw ap 12.15% / 97.16% CDI 06/2018 100,000 100,351 100,444 (93)              1,049       956                 
Sw ap 12.00% / 96.75% CDI 07/2018 100,000 105,431 106,000 (569)            781          212                 
Sw ap TR + 13.29% / CDI + 2.55% 03/2023 13,400 13,273 12,858 166             249          415                 

(496)            2,079       1,583              

Individual Consolidated
Current -           -                  
Non-current 1,168       1,583              
Total 1,168       1,583              

Impact on profit or 

 
 
Impacts on profit or loss related to derivatives above are recognized in line 
item “Financial expenses” and “Financial income”, according to their nature. 
 
As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company does not have financial 
instruments not recognized in its financial statements. 

 
(c) Risk management 

 
In the normal course of its operations, the Group is exposed to the following 
risks related to financial instruments: 

 
(i) Market risk: is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of certain financial 

instrument fluctuate because of interest rates and inflation indices 
fluctuations. Market risk management is made to ensure that the Group is 
only exposed to acceptable risk levels on its operational context; 
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(ii) Liquidity risk: is the risk of lack of funds to settle obligations. Liquidity risk 
management is made to ensure that the Group holds the necessary funds 
to settle its liabilities on the maturity dates. 

 
The Group’s risks management is performed by the Board of Directors, the 
Risk Committee, and the Finance Committee, based on financial reports 
analyses and cash flow forecasts. 

 
Market risk 

 
The Group is exposed to usual market risks arising from changes in interest 
rates and inflation adjustment indices; main financial instruments pegged to 
such rates and indices are as follows: 

 
Index Financial assets Financial liabilities

CDI
Short-term investments, marketable securities
and receivables from related parties Loans, f inancing, debentures

TR Short-term investments Loans, f inancing, debentures and land payables

INCC / IGPM Trade accounts receivable Land payables

IPCA Trade accounts receivable Payables for the acquisition of land and an investment

TJLP - Financing  
 

The Company conducted a sensitivity analysis for financial instruments 
exposed to changes in interest rates and financial indicators. The sensitivity 
analysis was developed considering the exposure to changes in the indexes of 
financial assets and financial liabilities, taking into account the net exposure of 
these financial instruments as at December 31, 2016, as if such balances were 
outstanding during the entire 2017, as detailed below: 
 
• Exposed net financial asset and exposed net financial liability: the 
difference between estimated rates for 2017 (“probable scenario”) and 
effective rates for 2016, multiplied by the exposed net balance as at December 
31, 2016, was used to calculate the financial impact, as if probable scenario 
would materialized in 2016. For estimated impacts, a decrease in financial 
assets and an increase in financial liabilities of 25% for scenario I and 50% for 
scenario II on estimated rate for 2017 were considered.  
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Index Assets Liabilities

Exposed 

asset 

(liability)

Effective rate 

for the year 

ended 

12/31/16

Annual rate 

estimated 

for 2017

Rates 

changes 

for each 

scenario

Total 

estimated 

financial 

impact

Estimated 

impact on 

net income 

and equity
Probable scenario
CDI 1,626,076  (1,155,070) 471,006      13.99% 11.55% (i) -2.44% (11,493)     (4,856)           
IGPM 232,442     (494,688)    (262,246)    7.19% 6.21% (i) -0.98% 2,570        2,570             
INCC 553,433     (477,075)    76,358        6.11% 4.83% (i) -1.28% (977)          (977)              
TR 7,055         (1,183,421) (1,176,366) 2.01% 0.13% (i) -1.88% 22,116      9,345             
IPCA 320,991     (119,000)    201,991      6.29% 4.83% (i) -1.46% (2,949)       (1,246)           
TJLP -                (11,423)      (11,423)      7.50% 7.50% (i) 0.00% -                -                    

9,267        4,836             
Scenario I
CDI 1,626,076  (1,155,070) 471,006      13.99% 8.66% -5.33% (25,105)     (10,608)         
IGPM 232,442     (494,688)    (262,246)    7.19% 7.76% 0.57% (1,495)       (1,495)           
INCC 553,433     (477,075)    76,358        6.11% 3.62% -2.49% (1,901)       (1,901)           
TR 7,055         (1,183,421) (1,176,366) 2.01% 0.16% -1.85% 21,763      9,196             
IPCA 320,991     (119,000)    201,991      6.29% 3.62% -2.67% (5,393)       (2,279)           
TJLP -                (11,423)      (11,423)      7.50% 9.38% 1.88% (215)          (91)                

(12,346)     (7,178)           
Scenario II
CDI 1,626,076  (1,155,070) 471,006      13.99% 5.78% -8.21% (38,670)     (16,340)         
IGPM 232,442     (494,688)    (262,246)    7.19% 9.32% 2.13% (5,586)       (5,586)           
INCC 553,433     (477,075)    76,358        6.11% 2.42% -3.69% (2,818)       (2,818)           
TR 7,055         (1,183,421) (1,176,366) 2.01% 0.20% -1.81% 21,292      8,997             
IPCA 320,991     (119,000)    201,991      6.29% 2.42% -3.87% (7,817)       (3,303)           
TJLP -                (11,423)      (11,423)      7.50% 11.25% 3.75% (428)          (181)              

(34,027)     (19,231)         
 

(h) Data obtained on BM&F’s website (Futures and Commodities Exchange). As there was no market 
projection for the INCC available for 2017, the IPCA variance was used. 

 
The total financial effect estimated, except on the INCC and IGPM, would be 
substantially recognized in real estate for sale and development and allocated 
to profit or loss as the real estate units were sold. Thus, the estimated effect on 
net income and shareholders’ equity is net of the remaining portion in real 
estate for sale. 
 
As required by IFRS 7, management believes that the estimated annual rates 
presented in the probable scenarios above reflect the reasonable possible 
scenario for 2017.  

 
Liquidity risk 

 
The Board of Directors is responsible for liquidity risk management and 
periodically reviews the cash flow projections, using stress scenarios and 
assesses the possible funding requirements in line with the equity structure 
and the indebtedness to be maintained by the Group. 
 
Liquidity and interest rate risk table 

 
The table below details the remaining contractual maturity of the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities and the contractual amortization periods, basically 
represented by loans, financing, debentures, trade payables, and payables for 
acquisition of land and an investment. This table was prepared using the 
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities, based on the closest date when 
the Group should settle the related obligations. The tables include interest and 
principal cash flows. As interest flows are based on floating rates, the 
undiscounted amount was based on the interest curves at year-end. 
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Contractual maturity is based on the most recent date when the Group should 
settle the related obligations. 

 

 
 

The Company has financial assets (basically represented by cash and cash 
equivalents, marketable securities, and receivables from real estate 
development) that considers sufficient to honor its commitments arising from 
its operating activities. 

 
(d) Foreign exchange risk 

 
The Company and its subsidiaries do not have foreign currency-denominated 
assets or liabilities. 
 

(e) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk in Company’s operations, mainly regarding receivables, is managed 
based on specific customer acceptance standards, credit rating, and setting of 
exposure limits per customer. In addition, accounts receivable are substantially 
guaranteed by the related real estate sold. 

 
(f) Fair value of financial instruments 

 
The table below shows in details the comparisons between the carrying 
amounts and fair values of loans, financing and debentures: 

 

Up to 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years Over 3 years Total

Separate:
Floating rates 1,388,410      1,115,476      497,916         250,121         3,251,923 
Fixed rates 5,878             2,437             1,327             199                9,841        
Non-interest bearing securities 284,433         35,833           21,429           568,883         910,578    
Total 1,678,721      1,153,746      520,672         819,203         4,172,342 

Consolidated:
Floating rates 1,557,438      1,390,858      696,829         301,337         3,946,462 
Fixed rates 6,419             2,437             1,327             199                10,382      
Non-interest bearing securities 403,918         39,512           21,429           975,592         1,440,451 
Total 1,967,775      1,432,807      719,585         1,277,128      5,397,295 
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12/31/2016 12/31/2016

Financial instruments
Carrying 

amount
Fair value (*) Difference

Carrying 

amount
Fair value (*) Difference

Debentures
TR + 8.25% p.a. 80,673       80,673         -                80,673           80,673            -                
CDI + 1.50% p.a. 255,768     255,768       -                255,768         255,768          -                
Total 336,441     336,441       -                336,441         336,441          -                

Bank credit notes
CDI + 0.40% to 2.03% p.a. 618,394     602,275       16,119       643,421         627,302          16,119       
Total 618,394     602,275       16,119       643,421         627,302          16,119       

Working capital loan
111% and 113% of CDI 130,458     127,833       2,625         130,458         127,833          2,625         
CDI + 2.05% p.a. 107,923     106,654       1,269         107,923         106,654          1,269         
Total 238,381     234,487       3,894         238,381         234,487          3,894         

Financing
To construction – TR + 8% to 12% p.a. 358,157     358,157       -                799,505         799,505          -                
To construction – TR + 10.21% to 12.15% p.a. 265,827     266,929       (1,102)       265,827         266,929          (1,102)       
To construction – TR + 13.29% p.a. -                -                   -                12,268           12,268            
Finame – TJLP + 3.70% and 4.50% p.a. 11,423       11,395         28              11,423           11,395            28              
Finame – f ixed rate 4.5% to 9.5% p.a. 6,612         6,046           566            6,612             6,046              566            
Total 642,019     642,527       (508)          1,095,635      1,096,143       (508)          

Leasing
CDI + 2.50% a 2.85% p.a. 17,500       17,500         -                17,500           17,500            -                
Total 17,500       17,500         -                17,500           17,500            -                

Grand Total - (w /o funding cost) 1,852,735  1,833,230    19,505       2,331,378      2,311,873       19,505       

12/31/2015 12/31/2015

Financial instruments
Carrying 

amount
Fair value (*) Difference

Carrying 

amount
Fair value (*) Difference

Debentures
TR + 8.25% to 10,25% p.a. 100,879     100,879       -                100,879         100,879          -                
CDI + 1.50% and 1.60% p.a. 1,034,896  1,019,265    15,631       1,034,896      1,019,265       15,631       
Total 1,135,775  1,120,144    15,631       1,135,775      1,120,144       15,631       

Bank credit notes
CDI + 1.30% p.a. 60,590       59,389         1,201         60,590           59,389            1,201         
Total 60,590       59,389         1,201         60,590           59,389            1,201         

Working capital loan
111% e 113% do CDI 210,584     203,798       6,786         210,584         203,798          6,786         
CDI + 2.05% p.a. 215,894     215,819       75              215,894         215,819          75              
Total 426,478     419,617       6,861         426,478         419,617          6,861         

Financing 
To construction – TR + 8% a 12% p.a. 393,725     393,725       -                621,470         621,470          -                
Finame  – f ixed rate 4.5% to 9.5% p.a. 8,230         8,083           147            8,230             8,083              147            
Total 401,955     401,808       147            629,700         629,553          147            

Grand Total - (w /o funding cost) 2,024,798  2,000,958    23,840       2,252,543      2,228,703       23,840       

Individual Consolidated

Individual Consolidated

 
(*) Measured at fair value with level 2 measurement. 

 
Fair value of loans, financing and debentures was estimated by the Company’s 
management based on their future value on maturity at the contracted rate, 
discounted to present value at the market rate as at December 31, 2016 and 
2015. 
 
The table below shows a comparative of the contracted and market rates, 
Company and consolidated, as at December 31, 2016: 
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Management believes that the other financial instruments, such as trade 
receivables and trade payables, which are recognized in the financial 
statements at their carrying amounts, do not present significant changes in 
relation to their fair values. 

 
 
26. Deferred taxes 

 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are broken down as follows: 
 

 
  

  

Current market 

rate Maturity dates

Debentures
TR + 8.25% p.a. TR + 8.25% p.a. December 2017
CDI + 1.50% p.a. CDI + 1.50% p.a. May 2017

Bank credit notes
CDI + 0.40% p.a. CDI + 0.40% p.a. December 2018
CDI + 1.15% p.a. CDI + 1.15% p.a. December 2019
CDI + 1.20% p.a. CDI + 2.95% p.a. November 2019
CDI + 1.30% p.a. CDI + 4.37% p.a. January 2019
CDI + 1.60% p.a. CDI + 4.42% p.a. June 2019
CDI + 1.60% p.a. CDI + 4.35% p.a. October 2018
CDI + 2.03% p.a. CDI + 2.95% p.a. February 2023

Loans and f inancing
      Working capital loan

111% of CDI CDI + 4.15% p.a. June 2017
113% of CDI CDI + 4.15% p.a. June 2018
CDI + 2.05% p.a. CDI + 4.53% p.a. June 2017

       Financing
     To construction

TR + 8% to 12% p.a. TR + 8% to 12% p.a. September 2021
TR + 10.21% p.a. TR + 10.21% p.a. September 2018
TR + 12.00% p.a. TR + 12.00% p.a. August 2017
TR + 12.15% p.a. TR + 10.79% p.a. June 2018
TR + 13.29% p.a. TR + 13.29% p.a. March 2023

      Finame
TJLP + 3.70% p.a. TJLP + 4.50% p.a. April 2019
TJLP + 4.50% p.a. TJLP + 4.50% p.a. July 2019
Fixed rate by 4.50% p.a. 4.50% p.a. April 2020
Fixed rate by 6.00% p.a. 13.45% p.a. November 2017
Fixed rate by 9.50% p.a. TJLP + 4.50% p.a. August 2019

      Leasing
CDI + 2.50% p.a. CDI + 2.85% p.a. July 2019
CDI + 2.80% p.a. CDI + 2.85% p.a. September 2019
CDI + 2.85% p.a. CDI + 2.85% p.a. December 2019

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Liabilities:

Income tax (IRPJ) 15,192      17,891      30,268      34,423      
Social contribution (CSLL) 7,956        9,381        15,699      17,967      
Tax on revenue (PIS) 5,878        6,556        9,373        10,143      
Tax on revenue (COFINS) 27,157      30,374      43,300      46,766      
Total 56,183      64,202      98,640      109,299    
Current 33,033      37,776      58,514      67,176      
Noncurrent 23,150      26,426      40,126      42,123      

Individual Consolidated
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Changes in deferred income tax (IRPJ) and social contribution (CSLL) liabilities for 
the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 is as follows: 
 

 
 
The effects of corporate income tax (IRPJ) and social contribution on income 
(CSLL) on temporary differences are as follows: 

 

12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2015
Effects of IRPJ and CSLL on:

Portion not received for real estate development (43,502)    (52,532)    (66,393)    (80,362)    
(-) Advances from customers 4,246        5,899        4,318        8,611        
Net amount (39,256)    (46,633)    (62,075)    (71,751)    
(-) Provision for maintenance of real estate 617           1,346        617           1,346        
(-) Provision for civil, labor and tax risks 11,778      14,537      11,778      14,537      
(-) Provision for profit sharing 3,290        3,140        3,290        3,140        
(-) Other provisions 423           338           423           338           
Liabilities - net credits (23,148)    (27,272)    (45,967)    (52,390)    

Individual Consolidated

 
 
The reconciliation of income tax and social contribution expenses at the statutory 
and effective rates for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 was as 
follows: 
 

2016 2015

Income before income tax and social contribution 602,282        600,119          
Tax rate - IRPJ e CSLL 34% 34%
Nominal expense (204,776)      (204,040)         
Effects of IRPJ and CSLL on:

Results from equity participation 110,471        84,478            
Earmarked assets 55,656          88,551            
Other permanent add-backs (6,519)          (21,527)           

Expenses in profit or loss (45,168)        (52,538)           

Breakdow n of expense in profit or loss - Individual:
   Current (51,809)        (57,577)           
   Deferred 6,641            5,039              

(45,168)        (52,538)           

Individual

 
 

2016 2015

Revenue from real estate development - subsidiaries 1,868,266     1,954,421       
Nominal tax rate (*) 1.92% 1.92%
Special taxation regime (RET):
Real estate development (35,871)        (37,525)           
Financial income - subsidiaries (**) (13,429)        (14,624)           
IRPJ and CSLL in subsidiaries (49,300)        (52,149)           
IRPJ and CSLL in Individual (45,168)        (52,538)           
Other 396               1,445              
Expenses in profit or loss (94,072)        (103,242)         

Breakdow n of expense in profit or loss - Consolidated:
   Current (100,495)      (117,427)         
   Deferred 6,423            14,185            

(94,072)        (103,242)         

Consolidated

 

(*) Tax rate for earmarked assets projects that opted for the special taxation regime (RET) 
(**) Financial income of subsidiaries is taxed at 34% 

 
  

2016 2015 2016 2015
Opening balance (27,272)    (32,311)    (52,390)    (66,575)    
Upstream merger (2,517)      -               -               -               
Effects recognized in profit or loss 6,641        5,039        6,423        14,185      
Closing balance (23,148)    (27,272)    (45,967)    (52,390)    

Individual Consolidated
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27. Noncash transactions 
 

During year 2016 and 2015, the Company and its subsidiaries conducted the 
following investment and financing transactions that did not involve cash, thus are 
not reflected in the statement of cash flows: 
 

 
 
 

28. Insurance 
 
The Company has an insurance policy that considers primarily risk concentration 
and their materiality, taking into consideration the nature of its business, and 
advice of the insurance brokers. As at December 31, 2016, insurance coverage is 
as follows: 
 

In su re d  

Ite ms Typ e  o f  c o ve ra g e a mo u n t

Construc tion insuranc e 
(engineering risk)

Insures, during the projec t c onstruc tion period, any compensation for damages c aused to the 
construc tion, suc h as: fire, lightening, theft, and other spec ific  coverage of fac ilities and assemblies 
at the insured fac ility.

9.496.641

Professional liability for 
property damages 

Insures the payment of indemnities from borrower or property owner c laims against the builder and/or 
the engineer in charge, duly registered with the CREA/CAU (Regional Engineers and Architec ts 
professional Assoc iation), related to design errors, construc tion defec ts, and/or use of inc orrec t 
materia ls, over a five- year period after the issue of the occupancy permit.

61.426

Warranty insurance after 
delivery

Insures the maintenance and resolution of c onstruc tion issues on delivered units up to five years, 
concerning damages provided for in the Consumer Bill of Rights.

104.243

Multi- peril insuranc e
Insures the completion of a projec t construc tion, c ompensation for damages caused by fire, 
lightening, windstorm, elec tric al damages, and glass shattering.

374.737

Civil liability c ivil (works 
under construc tion)

Insures payments, up to the insured c eiling amount, of c ompensation for which the Company is held 
liable for involuntary bodily injuries or property damages caused to third parties.

430.200

Builder guarantee 
insurance

Insures the projec t financers that construc tion will be completed in the event of technic al and/or 
financ ial inability by the Company.

1.206.009

Sundry risks insurance Insures payments to the financ ial agent of c ompensation for property damages c aused to 
financed/leased equipment.

37.708

Civil liability (officers) Insures the coverage of pain and suffering payable by Company offic ers (D&O). 80.000

Auto
Insures payment to the Company of any amounts arising from damages to insured vehic les, such as 
theft, c ollision, property damages, and bodily in juries to passengers.

737

Lenders insuranc e Insures that the Company will receive the outstanding balanc e of a property sold in case of lender’s 
death.

6.784

Group life and personal 
injury insurance

Insures payment of c ompensation related to involuntary personal injuries to employees, c ontrac tors, 
interns, and officers.

401.005

Residential Insures payments to the Company for c overed events ocurring in leased residentia l properties, 
events suc h as elec tric  damages, fire, lightening, windstorm, etc .

4.732

Corporate insurance Insures payments to the Company for c overed events ocurring in leased c ommerc ial properties, 
events suc h as elec tric  damages, fire, lightening, windstorm, etc .

73.817

Airc raft insurance Insures payments to the Company for damages to airc raft hulls, covered risks, such as expense and 
liability payment reimbursements c laimed from the Company due to the use of insured airc raft.

55.070
 

2016 2015 2016 2015
Capitalized financial charges (Note 11 (e)) 228,711    247,434    267,384    280,150    
Capital increase arising from capitalization of earning reserve (Nota 19) 450,000    552,315    450,000    552,315    

Individual Consolidated
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Insure d  

Ite ms Type  o f  c ove ra ge a mount

Lessor guarantee 
insurance

Insures payments to lesssor regarding rentals, real estate tax (IPTU), CAM fees and sundry expenses, 
if not paid by the lessee.

4.257

Legal guarantee insurance Insures to the polic yholder the payment of any disputed amount in full related to any lawsuit filed with 
any c ourt or threatened. The contrac ted guarantee replaces esc row deposits.

72.549

Infrastruc ture insuranc e Insures to c ities authorities the completion of any infrastruc ture works required under lic ensing 
procedures of the projec ts under construc tion.

60.423

Property delivery insurance Insures to barters the units delivery subjec t to barter c ontrac t entered into by the parties. 473.691

Warranty insurance for 
Infrastruc ture

It guarantees the execution of infrastruc ture works in the projec t construc tion required by the 
financ ial institution to make the projec t feasible.

82.320
 

 

29. Subsequent events 
 

Subsequent events occurred after the reporting period of these financial 
statements as at December 31, 2016, are as follows: 
 

• On January 20, 2017 the Board of Directors approved and confirmed later 
on February 24, 2017, the 9th issue of simple debentures, non-convertible, 
unsecured type, with no guarantees, in the total amount of R$750,000, in 
three series for public distribution with restricted efforts. Main conditions 
are detailed below: 

 

Series Quantity Amount 
Issuance 

date Maturity Remuneration 
Remuneration 

payment Amortization 

1st  17,273 172,730 2/15/17 2/15/20 100% of CDI + 
1.50% p.a. 

Semiannual, 
since issuance 
date 

15% in 24th month 
15% in 30th month 
70% in 36th month 

2nd  49,727 497,270 2/15/17 2/15/22 100% of CDI + 
2.30% p.a. 

Semiannual, 
since issuance 
date 

Semiannual, from 36th  to 
60th month  

3rd  8,000 80,000 2/15/17 2/15/22 IPCA + 
8.2502% p.a. 

Semiannual, 
since issuance 
date 

2/15/22 

 
  75,000    750,000  

  
• On January 23, 2017, the ninth issue of debentures of joint venture LOG 

Commercial Properties S.A. had its maturity postponed to October 27, 
2017. As mentioned in note 18 (a) the referred debentures were fully 
subscribed and paid by the Company. 
 

• On January 30, 2017, the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting approved 
the distribution of extraordinary interim dividends in amount of R$150,000, 
to the earning retention reserve account existing in the balanced sheet 
dated December 31, 2015, to be paid on March 30, 2017. This distribution 
was proposed by the Company´s Board of Director on November 09, 2016. 

 
• On February 14, 2017, the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting of joint 

venture LOG Commercial Properties S.A. (LOG) approved: (i) request for 
conversion of the registry of publicly-held company “B” to publicly-held 
company “A”, (ii) listing of LOG’s shares and adhesion to the Novo 
Mercado segment of BM&FBOVESPA - Bolsa de Valores, Mercadorias e 
Futuros de São Paulo; and (iii) performance of the primary initial public 
offer of common shares to be issued by LOG. 
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30. Approval of the Financial Statements 
 

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on March 06, 
2017 and authorized for issue by the executive committee. 
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2016 Management Report 
 

Dear Shareholders, 

Pursuant to legal and statutory provisions, MRV Engenharia e Participações S.A. (“Company” or 

“MRV”) Management presents its Management Report and the Company Consolidated Financial 

Statements, together with the independent Auditors’ Report, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 

2016. 

MESSAGE TO SHAREHOLDERS 

MARKET 

The uncertainties in the Brazilian political and economic scenario were highlighted throughout 2016 
2016, worsen even more the crisis started in 2014. The ex-president Dilma Rouseff impeachment 
process and the continuous outcomes from “Lava Jato” Operation, with the arrestment and 
government leaders’ replacements, lead the country to a serious recessive crisis which strongly 
affected several economy sectors. 
 
As a way to give new direction to the economy activity and achieve fiscal balance, the government 
put in the priority agenda several measures to reduce the extent of credit concessions, tax 
exemptions, proposed constitutional amendment to in order to limit public spending, among others 
(social security reform) that aims to adequate government accounts. 
 
Indeed, the main indicators were negatively affected, unemployment rate reached 12%, the highest 
since 2012, consumer confidence fell, inflation and interest rate rose and it was another year of GDP 
contraction. 
 
Since the crisis began, the Company has prepared itself to face a more challenging scenario, as well 
as take advantages from upcoming opportunities. We maintained our conservative financial 
management, starting a strong deleverage process and reached a robust cash position. 
 
Thereby, we went through this crisis with confidence and maintaining a comfortable position with 
high-level execution and performance. Our operational performance, focus in cost control, delivery 
capacity and solid financial management resulted in great progress in the 2016 results. For the 6th 
consecutive year, we presented a gross margin evolution reaching 32.6% in 2016, and also reported 
extraordinary dividends payment totaling R$ 150 million, increasing the value generation to our 
shareholders. 
 
The market we operate has been very resilient, with strong demand and low supply. The Brazilian 
housing program, even facing a complex political-economic scenario, maintained its solidity and 
lifelong term, with good resources availability and affordable rates. 
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During 2016, we reinforced our leadership in the economic housing sector, with a strong and 
nationally recognized brand and greater penetration in cities where we operate. Currently, 1 out of 
200 Brazilians live in a MRV, totaling 1 million people. 
 
For the 4th consecutive year, MRV has been elected the largest construction company in Brazil. ITC 
Ranking – “The Best 100 Construction Companies” ranked MRV as the largest construction company 
in the Record Category. 

OVERVIEW 

During 2016, we noticed a strong credit tightening from banks, implementing several conservative 

measures objecting aiming to keep the mortgage portfolio quality.  

Therefore, our clients faced a reduction in loan to value amount, falling to 75%, as well as more 

rigidity in the family income process analysis.  

However, the Company reinforced its focus in the low income segment launching 100% of units 

under FGTS, which demonstrated a good resilience. Due to our large footprint, quality of launches 

and high commercial team performance we reached R$ 5.3 billion gross sales (34 thousand units) in 

2016. 

The sales consistence is still based on a high housing deficit in low income segment, credit availability 

and affordability. The excessive rental expenses have become even more burdensome on household 

incomes, and the cost of opportunity of home ownership has become even more attractive. 

Once again we were able to increase our gross margin, reaching 32.6% in 2016, an increase of 

240bps compared to 2015. We highlight that the units’ price remained flat y-o-y, demonstrating the 

Company’s operation maturity with KPI’s continuously evolving. We presented a 160bps increase of 

net margin in 2016, reaching a net profit of R$ 557 million, with an increase of 1.7% compared to last 

year. 

In the last 4 years, we reported R$ 2.4 billion of cash generation, with strong cash position of R$ 2 

billion and low leverage of 5.4% net debt/equity ratio. The company’s financial performance allowed 

us to increase the shareholders return though extraordinary dividends payment and at the same 

time, keeping the healthy leverage and strong cash position. 
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During the last years, the Company was focused on project performance improvement, making our 

operation even more homogeneous, balanced and efficient. 

Excellence in execution and mature cities: our activity in the cities where we operate is even more 

mature, delivering a continuous margins growth that reflects the enhancement of project execution 

and team expertise. We reinforce our employee’s qualification and retention, investments in 

machinery and equipment, and lastly, in new construction methods. 

  

 

IT Investment: new processes and management system were implemented. During the last 3 years 

we invested more than R$ 120 million in IT, among which we developed proprietary systems, 

artificial intelligence, management software, big data, etc. 

Cancelation reduction: In 2013, we began a new sales process (“Simultaneous Sales”) with focus on 

cancelation reduction and increase of transfers speed. That process, contribute to the Company’s 

cancelation level of 24.3% in 2016, a decrease of 971 bps when compared to 2015. 

Structured BackOffice: Our team has great experience in managing large volume processes. We 

count on employees with extended experience in the Company. We invested in processes 

automatization that contributes to the efficiency gains. We are ready to operate in a level of 50 

thousand units per year with our current structure. 

As a result, we can see the continuous enhancement of the Company’s productivity indexes and the 

gross margin strong increase. 

Robust landbank: In 2016, we continue our landbank investment strategy, reaching a PSV of R$ 41.1 

billion. Acquisitions done in the last 3 years provided a greater balance to the Company, filling each 

region with adequate landbank to meet potential demand. We ended 2016 with more than 49 

thousand licenses to be launched after the incorporation permits has been issued. 

Gross Margin x Cities Cycle 
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The evolution of cities cycle contributes 

to gross margin increase 
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We highlight projects with the garden city low income projects in cities of São Paulo (Grand Reserva 

Paulista – Nasbe Area), Betim, Fortaleza, Rio de Janeiro, Bahia, etc with high potential market, 

sustaining the Company’s growth through the market share increase in the main capital cities and 

metropolitan regions. 

 

There are several cities where we operate with high demand not captured. Our growth strategy is 

based on those regions increasing our market share, supported by a mature landbank, especially in 

capital cities and metropolitan regions, which will boost the launches and sales volume. 

The Company is ready to evolve its operation and absorb the growth, that will contribute to increase 

the profit and ROE in the future.  

STOCK MARKET AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

MRV Engenharia’s shares are trading in the “Novo Mercado” of BM&FBOVESPA – brazilian stock 

market level that put together listed companies with the highest standards of Corporate Governance.  

MRVE3 is also part of the following Indexes: 

 

 

 

 

 

In 2016, we have been approved to compose Corporate Sustainability Index (ISE) portfolio. The new 

portfolio gathers 38 shares from 34 companies, and for the first time, MRV Engenharia is part of this 

select group and is proud of being the sector representative in 2017. 
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Our governance structure counts with a Board of Directors composed by 7 members (4 

independents), 6 committees including Ethics, Governance and Sustainability, as well as policies and 

code formally approved by the Board. We have an Internal Auditing and Compliance department that 

report to the Board. 

MRVE3 ended 2016 with an increase of 30% with a price of R$10.94 and market value of R$ 4.9 

billion in 12/31/2016.  

 

SUSTAINABILITY 

In November of 2016, BM&FBovespa announced the 14th 

Corporate Sustainability Index (ISE) portfolio that will be in place 

from January 2nd, 2017 to January 5th, 2018. The new portfolio 

gathers 38 shares from 34 companies, and for the first time, MRV Engenharia is part of this select 

group and is proud of being the sector representative this year. 

The actual portfolio represents 15 different sectors and sums R$ 1.31 trillion in market value, 

equivalent to 52.14% of total amount of listed companies in BM&FBovespa1. 

Since its foundation, in 2005, ISE reported a profitability of +145.36% while Ibovespa² index +94,11%. 

In this same period, ISE showed even lower volatility than Ibovespa, 25.25% and 28.05, respectively. 

ISE 2017 portfolio building process was assured by external auditing, where KPMG issued the 

“Unrestricted limited liability”. This assurance process is done since 2012, which brings the index 

more credibility and confidentiality. Furthermore, ISE remains with the partnership to daily monitor 

the company’s corporate image. 

                                                           
1 Data base 11/22/2016 (in the previous year the total amount was R$ 1.15 trillion of market value, the equivalent of 45.68% of total 
amount. 



 
 

 

6 

 

 

In April 2016, the Company joined the initiative developed by Kofi Annan, the ex-

general secretary of ONU, denominated “Global Compact from United Nations” (for 

further information access: https://www.unglobalcompact.org/). 

The Global Compact is an initiative that aims to mobilize the international business 

community for the adoption of fundamental and internationally recognized values 

related to human rights, employment relations, environment and corruption. 

The participation of United Nations agencies, companies, syndicates, non-governmental institutions 

and others contribute for the construction of a more inclusive and egalitarian global market. 

Nowadays, there are more than 12 thousand signatory organizations connected through around 150 

networks around the globe. 

 

MRV Engenharia has received the gold seal form GHG Protocol, a 

program from the “Centro de Estudos de Sustentabilidade (GVcse) 

from “Fundação Getúlio Vargas”, that objects to stimulate the 

organizational culture of preparation and publish of emission of greenhouse gases inventories. 

MRV is the first and only company in our segment to obtain this classification. Companies that are 

qualified in this category are the ones that, besides fulfilling all mandatory requirements, such as 

norms and methodologies of accounting greenhouse gases internationally accepted and assure the 

relevance for the main economic sectors in Brazil, it is verified by third independent part accordingly 

to the rules stablished by the program. 

The MRV Engenharia brand is nationally recognized by its history of 

social transformation, sustainable construction, Brazilian larger and 

better technical assistance network, Relationship with Clients, 

urbanization and projects landscaping, highly qualified workers, among 

others. 

Our product has high standards, with leisure areas, security cabins, modern frontages, 

landscaping, parking space, special finishing options during construction, recycling, solar energy, 

among other benefits. We are leader of access in social media, having more than 3.5 Facebook 

fans. 

Our clients are our brand’s ambassador, we have 91% of client satisfaction during attendance, 

and 89% indicates MRV. We keep up with our clients during all the steps of purchasing process, 

building a long-term relationship resulting in loyalty and continuity of our business. In last 3 years, 

we delivered 120 keys, which is equivalent to a city as large as Vitória (the capital of Espírito Santo 

state). We are the largest residential construction company in Latin America 

 

https://www.unglobalcompact.org/
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MRV INSTITUTE 

In 2016, MRV Institute (IMRV) continued its journey materializing projects and promoting social 

transformation in our country; focusing in education and contributing to a better future for the 

communities were MRV operates. The total amount invested was R$ 3.2 million. 

IMRV believes in the joint efforts to develop projects, strengthening people and institutions, 

consolidating common objectives. The main initiatives are described below: 

Castelinho Restauration – Miguilim Program 

IMRV embraced the cause rebuilding the traditional 

building “Castelinho da Floresta”, built in 1918 in the 

eclectic style inspired in art nouveau, and has been 

totally reconstructed to shelter the new 

headquarters of Miguilim Program. 

Miguilim is considered one of the best governmental 

program for Children Support in Latin America and 

host nearly 100% of the children and teenagers living 

on the streets of Belo Horizonte/MG. 

Young people are invited to attend circus school, visual arts courses, percussion, dance, drama and it 

is also offered meals and social assistance to encourage children to leave the streets. The program 

was interrupted in 2014 because of security and infrastructure problem in the old building. The new 

headquarter will be able to receive up to 80 children per day. 

Querubins 

Querubins Association is a non-profit entity, responsible for development and promotion of art, 

sports and education. Its activities gathers around 150 children and teenagers from “Vila Acaba 

Mundo” community, in Belo Horizonte. The project objective is to maintain young people away from 

marginalization offering them a professionalization opportunity. 

IMRV built a music studio that will gather, not only 

this project, by the entire community, transforming  

Querubins in an auto sustainable project. 

Started in July of 2016, together with SERVAS, a 

consultancy job was done with focus in sustainable 

management. 

“Educa Esporte”, promoting sports EDUCATION and in 

partnership with “Federação Mineira de Basketball” 

giving basketball lessons for 90 children twice a week. 
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1st Public Call for Projects 

The Public Call invited non-profit institutions and individuals to present transformational social 

projects in the area of education, focusing on environment, sport and culture. The projects went 

through a selective process and popular vote through the Institute Portal and the four winners, 

described below, received a contribution of R$ 50 thousand, for 4 months, as well as a follow-up on 

the execution of their projects. 

- “Viver Basquete”: located at Nova Lima, invested the value received in teaching sports to children 

and young people, offering a healthy alternative against violence, allowing new perspectives for 

these people. 

- “Aprendizagem Criativa”: work with workshops to approach science and arts, through the 

development of collective projects in libraries, museums and parks in the city of São Paulo. Impacted 

educators have come to see other spaces as an extension of the school and that creative learning can 

be a potent form of expression. 14 workshops were held in three schools. 

- “Oportunidade para Brilhar”: located at Nova Contagem, in the Metropolitan Region of Belo 

Horizonte, and aims to contribute to the protection of the rights of children and adolescents exposed 

to social vulnerability through sports activities (tae-kwon-do, futsal and basketball), held outside the 

school day. 

- “Coração da Terra”: located at Belo Horizonte, worked with environmental education, offering 

workshops on environmental awareness, land use techniques as a pigment for development and 

composting workshop. 

MRV Volunteers 

The IMRV volunteer program now has more than 1,300 volunteers. We have a solidary team and 

with a lot of desire to take care of the directors of the future.  

Here are some projects developed through volunteering: 

- “Direito de saber”: created to provide legal guidance to MRV employees (sites and headquarter). In 

2016, twelve actions were taken with the participation of twenty-two volunteer lawyers, benefiting 

124 employees. 

-“Junior Achievement”: our goal is to awaken the entrepreneurial spirit in young people, still in 

school, stimulating their personal development, providing a clear vision of the business world and 

facilitating access to labor market from an ethical and responsible perspective. IMRV volunteers are 

trained and teach courses in schools for 9th grade students.   
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Project that IMRV supports 

Through institute’s support, the “Escola Nota 10” project takes literacy, 

digital inclusion or professional qualification classes into the workplaces 

of our employees. Since 2011, the company has developed the program 

in all its regions and today there are more than 170 schools serving more 

than 3,300 workers from different areas. 

Located in Ribeirão das Neves, the “Cidade dos Meninos” is a non-profit philanthropic institution that 

serves children and young people in need, providing the opportunity 

to attend secondary and elementary schools, school reinforcement, 

vocational courses, sports, leisure, culture, activities of moral and 

human formation, in addition to food and housing for those living in 

boarding school system. Currently, the “Cidade dos Meninos” hosts 

192 children and young people, who are accompanied by a Foster 

Mother. 
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Main prizes  

1. MRV is recognized for its market-conscious behavior.  

“6º Prêmio PINI Incorporadora do Ano”. The Company obtained the highest score in “Behavior 

with Society and Enviroment”. 

2. MRV is elected the country’s largest construction company for the fourth consecutive year. The 

Company was once again ranked as the largest construction company in Brazil. 

ITC Ranking – The 100 Greatest of Construction, in “Recordista” category. 

3. Social and Enviromental Responsability highlight, for the contribution to sustainable 

development with the “Escola Nota 10” project. 

“FIESP” – Federation of Industries of the State of São Paulo. 

4. MRV is the most remembered brand in Minas Gerais for the 17th time.  

Top of Mind Prize, promoted by “Mercado Comum” Magazine. This is the 17th time that MRV 

wins the award. 

5. “Troféu Ouro” – Best practices in the relationship with its clientes throughout the country.  

 “CIC Brasil” Prize promoted by Grube Associados 

6. MRV Engenharia the champion in the construction segment, the most prestigious company in 

Brazil. 

“Época Negócios” yearbook 

7. MRV is the Champion in the category “Climate Change – Services”. 

“Época Empresa verde” 

8. “Sustentar” Prize: 

1st place in the category Sustainable Initiatives – MRV sustainability stamps. 

3rd place in the category Sustainable Services – Technical Assistance in palm of the hand   

9. “Melhores da Dinheiro”: Real estate construction – Capital Aberto 

“IstoÉ Dinheiro” 
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE – MRV - CONSOLIDATED 
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OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE 

Note: Except where noted to the contrary, all amounts included in this report consider the 
contribution attributed to the shareholders of the Company. 
 

 

Land Bank 

During 2016, the conditions for land acquisition remained attractive and providing good 

opportunities for the Company to balance its landbank expansion, taking the most advantages from 

the potential market. Our landbank has 99% of units eligible to FGTS, a segment that presents 

greater sales resilience. 

The strong cash generation gave us conditions to be more aggressive in better land acquisition in 

cities que operate. In the last 3 years, we invested R$ 726 million in these assets acquisition. 
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Most part of the acquisition were done through payment in cash, which reduced the swap volume in 

the period. It is worth mentioning that the majority of payment is done in installments linked to 

future events (licenses, permits, etc.). 

 

The Company continue to put in place its strategy to balance its landbank, especially in capital cities 

and metropolitan regions (RM), where our land inventory was not adequate yet. 

In those regions we have large potential for market share increase, once that: (i) they concentrate 

high demand and low offer (ii) we have profound market expertise and (iii) we already have enough 

structure to increase our operation. 

As our landbank gets more mature, we will be able to increase the launch volume, contributing to a 

better balance of commercial inventory and boosting the Company’s grow. 

The current G&A structure is ready to absorb the Company’s grow without any additional 

investment. 

Launches 

All Company’s launches during 2016 were eligible to FGTS, totaling R$ 4 billion. The financial health 

of this funding, the availability of resources and affordable interest rates positively contributed to the 

performance of low-income segment. 

 

Launches in 2016 were affected specially in 2H16 due to strong bank strike occurred in September 

and to municipal elections. Some projects were not approved on time to be launched. 

 

Large Brazilian capital cities and metropolitan regions concentrate most of Brazilian housing demand. 

In 2016, 51% of our launches were made in capital cities and/or metropolitan regions, showing an 

increase of 1600 bps when compared to 2015.  

 

Out of R$ 41.1 billion of landbank, R$ 2.5 billion already have issued incorporation permits (RI), 

equivalent to 17,763 units. The launch of those units depends on the inventory level of each region 
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and construction financing of projects with financial institutions, which is determinant to client 

transfer during construction phase. 

 

Pre-Sales Record 

During 2016, the Company increased its sales focus on FGTS eligible units, representing 94% of total 
sold units. This strategy aims to meet the high demand market and good credit conditions. 
Additionally, the offer in this segment remains lower than the market absorption capacity. 
 
In 2016, the Company gross sales growth was recurrent, reflecting the resilient market, even more 
assertive e launches and high demand. Total pre-sales reached R$ 5.3 billion or 34 thousand units, 
approximately. 
 
Our market remains strong and demanding, we launched in new regions and supplying cities with 

low inventory and high demand, becoming it more balanced. The focus on FGTS eligible units reflects 

the solid performance in the economic housing sector, with attractive interest rates and credit 

availability. 

 

Production 

We ended the year with 32,731 units built, in line with the units sold in the period. 

The Company continues to focus on improving its productivity, increasing production speed and 

reducing the need for labor to produce a unit. This evolution is a consequence of investments made 

in training, more skilled labor and migration of the production process to aluminum forms. In this 

way, our teams are increasing experience, which makes our process more mature, efficient and with 

less discrepancy between different regions. In 2016, we reached the highest level of productivity.  

In addition, the Company has strengthened its austerity policy in controlling production costs, 

renegotiations contract with suppliers and reviewing processes. 

The main impact of these actions can be seen in the strong growth of Company’s profitability, with a 

recurring increase in the gross margin of projects, reaching its highest level in last 6 years. 

In the last 3 years, we delivered more than 120 thousand units, equivalent to a city of 270 thousand 

inhabitants. 

Real Estate Financing 

In 2016, we reached 29 thousand units transferred, in line with the units sold and produced, thus 

ensuring excellence in our receivables flow. Exceptionally in 3Q16, we had a lower volume of 

transfers due to the strong bank strike in the period. 

The provision of financing to our customers has fundamental importance to the business. In these 37 

years of operation, we developed a strong relationship with financial institutions which provides 

credit, especially with Caixa Econômica Federal (CEF) and Banco do Brasil (BB) key partners in this 

process.  
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CASH GENERATION – R$ 806 MILLION 

Throughout 2016, we reported strong operating and financial results, maintaining the pace and 

balance of our operations. In the last 4 years we reached R$ 2.4 billion in cash generation, with a 

strong cash position of R$ 2 billion and leverage of only 5.4% net debt/equity.  

 

 

The Company’s financial performance allows us to increase the shareholder return through the 

extraordinary payment of dividends, and still maintain comfortable leverage and gross cash position. 

The conclusion of the simultaneous sales process in 2015 ensured during the year of 2016 that the 

Company further improved the efficiency of transfers and reduction of the receiving cycle, in 

addition to contributing to the reduction of cancelations. The continuity of these improvements and 

the net margin expansion will reflect an increase in ROE in the future. 

We will begin the gradual review of our capital structure in order to increase shareholder return. 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE 

Note: All amounts included in this report consider the profit and equity attributed to the shareholders 

of the Company, except where noted to the contrary. 

 

Consolidated Net Operating Revenue 

In 2016, the Company’s revenue reached a health level of R$ 4.2 billion, showing a decrease 

compared to 2015 due to lower volume of sales and built units in the period. 

Consolidated Gross Profit 

For the 6th consecutive year, we reported and important enhancement on gross margin. The 

continuous gross margin increase of our projects is a consequence of the Company’s high execution 

capacity and with continuous enhancement of operational performance, especially the one started 

from 2014. 

 

We work under rigorous cost control and systemic management of projects, reducing diversion risks 

and discrepancies between projects. 

 

Additionally, in previous years, we achieved success in contracts renegotiation with suppliers and in 

land acquisition processes, which contributed to the maintenance / reduction of material prices. 
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Consolidated Selling Expenses 

During 2016, we increased our commercial expenses, as consequence of higher marketing expenses 

in order to maintain the Company’s sales level in a challenging market. 

Consolidated General and Administrative Expenses 

In 2016, the Company acts in different fronts to minimize discussions related to projects delay and 

sales/commission payment model, main G&A offenders.  

This work has producing very positive effects with our clients, decreasing the indemnities amount 

and increasing judicial agreements. As consequence, we can see expenses related to these subjects 

decreasing. 

We are constantly reviewing our structure, objecting to adjust our SG&A expenses, as a reflex we had 
a 4.5% reduction in administrative headcount, reaching an adequate level to sustain our grow. 

Consolidated Financial Result 

Costs related to the financial charges of loans, financing and debentures related to the construction 

of real estate are capitalized. The increase in the gross cash position and CDI in the period 

contributed to a 16.3% increase in financial income. Additionally, we highlight that the financial 

result is comprised of financial income from customers for real estate development, which comes 

from accounts receivable from residential units and are adjusted by IGP-M and IPCA. 

  Consolidated EBITDA 

Consolidated EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization). 

 

 

Indebtedness 

Since 2012 when we started to report cash generation, the Company has been reducing its leverage 

level, decreasing debt/equity from 49.1% to 5.4% in 4Q16.  

MRV ended 2016 with a coverage of 175% of the debt indexed to CDI, and R$ 2 billion of gross cash 

invested compared to a corporate debt of R $ 1.1 billion.  
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The Company`s efficient capital structure keeps us with the best rating in industry. The recurring 

generation of cash will contribute at some point for net cash. 

 

The effective Company's capital structure keeps us with the best rating in the segment. The recurrent 

cash generation will help us reach a net cash at some point. 

 

  
Consolidated Net Debt 

(R$ million) 

 
 
 

Debt Maturity Schedule 
(R$ million) 

 
 

Dividends 

According to the Company’s management proposal, “ad referendum” relative to the Annual 

Shareholders' Meeting, 2016 dividends are as follows: 
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Buyback Program 

Since Aug/2011, we have programs for the repurchase of active shares, for holding in treasury and 

eventual cancellation or disposal.  

The current buyback program has a maximum term for repurchase by 12/19/2017. 

 

             

STOCK MARKET 

Liquidity 

In 2016 the daily trading volume was on average R$ 31.7 million. 

Evolution of the average price (MRVE3) (R$) 
and Traded Volume (R$ million) 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Term 12/19/2017

Status Active

Approved Quantity 20,000,000

Acquired Quantity (as of 12/31/2016) 0

Treasury Shares (as of 12/31/16) 2,868,066

Share Buyback Plan
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LOG COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES 

LOG Commercial Properties e Participações S.A. (“LOG-CP”) is a Company focused on the 

development of commercial and industrial properties. Jointly controlled, LOG CP is continuously 

adding value to MRV and its shareholders. From the third quarter of 2013 on, as the Company was 

registered in CVM´s “B” category, LOG CP started to release its results in independently. LOG CP 

detailed results on MRV website (http://ri.mrv.com.br/relatorios_trimestrais.aspx?l=2) and on its 

own website (http://www.logcp.com.br/arquivos/3). 

URBAMAIS  

Urbamais has been consolidating its growth since its inception, and in 2016, this growth is evident in 

the progress of its projects, as well as, in the achieved results. 

 

Urbamais delivered its first allotment, “Parque Atlanta”, located in Araraquara-SP. The project was 

launched in August, 2014 and delivered in June, 2016, two months before the scheduled time. 

 

“Parque Atlanta” is a gated allotment with extensive green area and recreation, with total PSV of R$ 

34 million and 335 plots. By the end of 2016, all units were already sold. 

 

In the first semester of 2016, “Jardim de Campos” was launched, a project with 464 plots and total 

estimated PSV of R$ 28 million. The allotment is located in a region nearby downtown of Campo dos 

Goytacazes (RJ). 

 

In 4Q16, Urbamais launched more than one project of gated allotment – “Jardim dos Girassóis”, with 

1,137 plots and PSV of R$ 70 million. The project is located in Feira de Santana (BA), in an under 

development area of the city around trade and services businesses. This is the Company’s second 

project in this city, continuing to development of “Recanto das Flores” complex. 

 

The launched PSV increased 21% in 2016, when compared to 2015. In line with this same trend of 

growth, pre-sales increased 10.4% in 2016, in equivalent amounts of Urbamais percentage of 

participation. The total amount of pre-sales, including our partners, reached R$ 80.8 million in 2016. 

 

Built units increased 88.2% in 2016 compared to 2015, in equivalent amounts of Urbamais 

percentage of participation.  All built units, including our partners, reached 1,161 units in 2016. 

 

We also highlight the 10.7% of growth in landbank compared to 2015, reaching R$ 2.4 billion. 

 

Results 

 

Due to the greater volume of ongoing projects, along with construction sites evolution, Urbamais 

ended 2016 reporting a Net Revenue of R$ 56.2 million, an increase of 156% compared to 2015. 

 

 

 

http://ri.mrv.com.br/relatorios_trimestrais.aspx?l=2
http://www.logcp.com.br/arquivos/3
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The continuos grow of the net revenue allowed a reduction on operational expenses, resulting in a 

EBITDA margin of 29.6% and net margin of 25.5%, both presenting a growth when compared to last 

year. 

 

Net income and EBITDA in 2016 were R$14.3 million and R$ 16.7 million, respectively. These results 

show an increase of around 200% over the previous year. 
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RELATIONSHIP WITH INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

Pursuant to CVM Instruction 381/03, we inform that the Company’s independent auditors Ernst & 
Young Auditores Independentes S/S (“Ernst & Young”) did not provide services during the nine 
months of 2016 other than those relating to external audit, except professional services related to 
the issuance of a comfort letter on the accounting and financial information presented in the 
prospectus for issuance of Certificates of Real Estate Receivables, contracted on September 6, 2016 
for a total amount of R $ 134 thousand. The Company’s policy for hiring independent auditors 
ensures that there is no conflict of interest, loss of autonomy or objectiveness.  

ARBITRATION CLAUSE 

In accordance with Article 48 of Chapter VIII – Arbitration Chamber of the Company’s Bylaws: The 

Company, its shareholders, executive officers and members of the Board of Directors are obliged to 

resolve, through arbitration, all and any disputes or controversies between them related to or arising 

from, in particular, the application, validity, efficacy, interpretation, violation and effects thereto of 

the provisions in Brazilian Corporation Law, the Company’s Bylaws, the regulations of the National 

Monetary Council (CMN), the Central Bank of Brazil and the Brazilian Securities and Exchange 

Commission (CVM), as well as any other rules applicable to the functioning of the capital markets, 

including those provided for in the regulations of the Novo Mercado Special Corporate Governance, 

the Arbitration Regulations of the Market Arbitration Chamber and the Participation Agreement of 

the Novo Mercado. 

MESSAGE FROM THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 

In accordance with CVM Instruction 480, the Executive Board declares that it has discussed and 

reviewed the opinions expressed in the independent auditors’ report and the financial statements 

for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. 
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Belo Horizonte, March 07, 2017. 

The Management 


